
South Hams Licensing Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Thursday, 11th November, 2021

Time: 2.00 pm

Venue: Repton Room - Follaton House

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Brown

Vice Chairman Cllr Rowe

Members: Cllr Foss
Cllr Hodgson
Cllr Holway
Cllr Kemp
Cllr Pannell

Cllr Pringle
Cllr Reeve
Cllr Smerdon
Cllr Thomas
Cllr Taylor

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's register or local non pecuniary 
interest which they have in any item of business on the agenda (subject to the 
exception for sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Page No

1.  Apologies for absence 

2.  Minutes 1 - 26

to approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Licensing 
Committee held on 30 June 2021 and the Licensing Sub-Committee meetings held 
between 7 January 2021 and 4 August 2021

3.  Division of Agenda

to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is likely to lead to the 
disclosure of exempt information;

4.  Declarations of interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable pecuniary interests, 
including the nature and extent of such interests; they may have in any items to 
be considered at this meeting;

5.  Three-Yearly Review of Gambling Statement of Licensing Principles 27 - 96



Licensing 30.06.21

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE HELD IN THE 
REPTON ROOM, FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES ON WEDNESDAY, 30 JUNE 2021

MEMBERS

* Cllr D Brown - Chairman

* Cllr R Rowe - Vice-Chairman

Ø Cllr R Foss
*  Cllr J M Hodgson
Ø Cllr T R Holway
Ø Cllr K Kemp
*  Cllr G Pannell

* Cllr K Pringle
Ø Cllr H Reeve
* Cllr P C Smerdon
* Cllr B Taylor
Ø Cllr D Thomas

* Denotes attendance
Ø Denotes apology for absence

Officers in attendance and participating:
Licensing Specialist; Deputy Monitoring Officer; and Democratic Services Manager

L.01/21 MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on 5 November 2020 
were confirmed as a true and correct record.

L.02/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
considered during the course of the meeting and these were recorded as follows:

Having sought the advice of the Deputy Monitoring Officer, Cllr P C Smerdon 
declared a personal interest in agenda item 5: ‘Consideration of whether a driver 
remains a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Driver Licence’ (Minute L.04/21 below refers) by virtue of his use of a local business 
that was referred to in the exempt agenda report and remained in the meeting and 
took part in the debate and vote thereon.

L.03/21 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS

RESOLVED

That in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business as the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act is involved.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Licensing 30.06.21

L.04/21 CONSIDERATION OF WHETHER A DRIVER REMAINS A ‘FIT AND PROPER’ 
PERSON TO HOLD A HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER 
LICENCE

Consideration was given to an exempt report that sought a decision as to whether 
an individual remained a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold a hackney carriage and 
private hire driver licence with South Hams District Council.

Following the report being introduced by the Licensing Specialist, the Chairman 
invited the licensed driver and his colleague to provide a detailed account of why 
they considered that the licensed driver remained a ‘fit and proper’ person.

Upon the conclusion of their representations, Members were invited to ask them 
questions of clarity.

Once all parties in attendance were content that they had no further questions or 
issues to raise, the Committee then adjourned (at 11.10am) in the presence of the 
Deputy Monitoring Officer to consider the matter.  

The meeting was subsequently reconvened at 11.30am and the Chairman 
proceeded to read out the Committee decision as follows:

The Decision

‘Members of the Licensing Committee have considered very carefully the facts 
surrounding the allegations and subsequent investigation by the Police.

- We have read the Licensing Specialist’s report, which you have had sight of;
- We have read the information provided by the Police;
- We have read any additional documents provided by the licence holder ahead 

of this meeting;
- We have also listened very carefully to what you have told us today and to your 

representative;
- The main priority of the licensing regime is to ensure public safety.  As this is a 

civil matter, the evidence of proof is based on the balance of probabilities – the 
onus being on yourself to satisfy the Authority that remain a ‘fit and proper’ 
person to hold a joint Private Hire and Hackney Carriage drivers licence / 
vehicle licence.

The Committee has decided to take no further action.  This decision is based on:

- The Committee recognises that there has been a dispute and breakdown of 
relationship between the licensed driver and the complainants;

- The licensed driver recognises that the actions on social media were 
inappropriate and have ceased;

- The CCTV evidence is not conclusive that the licensed driver was responsible 
for the damage and the Committee do not consider it reasonable to give it any 
weight;

- The Committee is satisfied that the licensed driver remains a ‘fit and proper’ 
person to hold a licence.’

Page 2



Licensing 30.06.21

(Meeting commenced at 10.10 am and concluded at 11.35 am)
___________________

Chairman

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



LSC 7.1.21 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD AT 
FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES ON THURSDAY 7 JANUARY 2021

Present: Cllrs Dan Brown (Chairman), Tom Holway and Peter Smerdon
David Fairbairn, Monitoring Officer
Tara O’Keefe, Senior Case Manager – Licensing
Darryl White, Senior Specialist – Democratic Services

Also in attendance and participating:
  

Mr Lance Whitehead (Applicant)
Mr James Clarke (Objector)
Mr David Furneaux (Objector)
Ms Emma Cane (Objector)
Mrs Sally Hosking (Objector)

LSC.5/20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting.  These were 
recorded as follows:-

Cllr Holway declared a personal interest in agenda item 3: ‘Application for a 
Variation to the Premises Licence at The Boathouse, 28-30 Island Street, 
Salcombe TQ8 8DP’ (Minute LSC.3/18 below refers) by virtue of knowing two 
of the objectors for the application.

LSC.6/20 TO DETERMINE AN APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE AT 
CALANCOMBE WINERY, MODBURY, IVYBRIDGE PL21 0TU

The Sub-Committee considered a report that sought to determine an 
application for a new premises licence at Calancombe Winery, Modbury, 
Ivybridge PL21 0TU.

The Senior Case Manager – Licensing introduced the report and outlined the 
details of the application (as stated in the application form at Appendix A of 
the presented agenda report).  In so doing, she highlighted that the ‘wards 
affected’ in the published agenda report had incorrectly shown that the 
premises were located in the ‘Ermington and Ugborough’ Ward when they 
were actually sited in the ‘Charterlands’ Ward.

1. Address by the Applicant

In his address, the applicant provided some background information to the 
establishment of the business and proceeded to make specific reference 
to:-

- there being absolutely no intention for either a farm shop, pub or 
restaurant to be created through the proposals.  Furthermore, Mr 

Page 5



LSC 7.1.21 

Whitehead confirmed that he had no desire to open the premises 
outside of the hours that were being sought as part of the application;

- planning permission not being required alongside this licensing 
application.  At this point, the Monitoring Officer clarified to the Sub-
Committee that this Hearing was solely concerned with consideration 
of the merits of the application in line with the four Licensing Objectives 
and the planning merits were therefore outside the jurisdiction of this 
Hearing; 

- the intention to tightly control the numbers and timings of groups 
visiting the application site.  When questioned, Mr Whitehead advised 
that, whilst difficult to predict demand, he did not envisage groups 
being in excess of 12 people at any given time.  Also, Mr Whitehead 
was of the view that there would be no more than six tours taking place 
each week and it was the aim of the business to target both local 
visitors and tourists;

- the local economic benefits of granting this application.  In expanding 
the point, Mr Whitehead informed that the premises would be recruiting 
a number of employees;

- the potential to expand the business into alcoholic spirits that were 
based upon the fruits grown on site; and

- he was fully aware and appreciative of the concerns that had been 
raised over traffic implications.  Whilst Mr Whitehead had suggested a 
number of potential traffic mitigations to the objectors, unfortunately 
each one had been rejected by them.

2. Addresses by the Objectors

In their respective addresses, the objectors made particular reference to:

- the traffic access routes into the application site being wholly 
inappropriate (and indeed dangerous) for any additional vehicular 
movements.  In addition, the objectors were of the view that the 
applicants had vastly underestimated the access issues especially 
when considering that a number of drivers were unfamiliar with driving 
on such narrow and dangerous roads;

- if approved, a condition should be imposed whereby tours should be 
booked by advanced appointment only;

- the lack of dialogue with the applicants was felt to be unfortunate and 
causing some ill feeling between the objectors and the applicants;

- some contradictions between the comments expressed by the 
applicants and the contents of their website;

- the proposals having a detrimental impact on neighbouring farm 
businesses; and

- the public notice being inappropriately displayed.

Once all parties were content that they had no further issues or questions to 
raise, the Sub Committee then adjourned (at 3.15pm) in the presence of Mr 
Fairbairn to consider the application and then reconvened at 4.00pm.

3. The Decision Page 6



LSC 7.1.21 

In announcing the Sub-Committee decision, the Chairman read out the 
following statement:

1. The aim of the Licensing Act 2003 is to provide a more flexible 
licensing system, by reducing the burden of unnecessary regulation, 
but still maintaining public order and safety. 

2. The 2003 Act makes it clear that licensable activities are to be 
restricted only where it is necessary to promote the four Licensing 
Objectives. 

3. In determining an application with a view to promoting the Licensing 
Objectives in the overall interests of the local community, the Sub-
Committee is required to give appropriate weight to: 
 the steps that are appropriate to promote the Licensing 

Objectives; 
 the representations (including supporting information) presented 

by all the parties; 
 the Guidance issued under section 182 of the 2003 Act; and
 our own statement of licensing policy.

4. The statutory guidance provides that it is imperative that our decision 
is evidence-based and that in reaching a decision the factors which 
are to be taken into account are limited to a consideration of the 
promotion of the licensing objectives and nothing outside those 
parameters.

5. The Licensing Specialist’s report also highlighted relevant provisions 
of the statutory guidance and our own statement of licensing policy.

6. Finally, by way of setting the scene for our decision, the Licensing 
Sub-Committee is mindful that an application that must be considered 
on its own merits.  Our function is to take such steps as we consider 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives having regard 
to the representations we have received and heard.  

7. It is against this background that the Sub-Committee has considered 
the application by Calancombe Estate Holdings Limited, for a new 
premises licence at Calancombe Winery, Modbury.  The Application is 
for the supply of alcohol for consumption on and off the premises 
Monday to Saturday 11:00am to 5:00pm, and Sunday 11:00am to 
4:00pm.  These hours had been modified following the consultation 
process as a result of representations from the Police about non-
standard timings.  

8. The Applicant represented by Lance Whitehead set out its 
arrangements for promoting the Licensing Objectives in the 
Application and in evidence before the Licensing Sub-Committee. Mr 
Whitehead explained that the proposals were limited in scope with 
guests being invited to taste and buy wines made from produce grown 
on the Estate and that there was no desire to open outside of the 
hours applied for.  The number of guests on organised tours would be Page 7



LSC 7.1.21 

limited given that the premises were part of a working farm and had to 
be managed by the Applicant.  He suggested that there might be two 
groups of 12 guests on 3-4 days a week.  At certain times of the year 
Mr Whitehead said the number of guests would be very low as there 
would be nothing for them to see.  There would be sales to passing 
people.

9. Mr Whitehead also responded to the objections received by 
suggesting that they were not relevant to the licensing objectives.  
Nevertheless he explained his understanding of the judgment in 
Millington v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and the 
Regions [2000] JPL 297 and how it concerned the “right” of a vineyard 
to open the site to public viewing of the wine making process and to 
offer the wine for sale along with light refreshments.

10. With regard to road safety Mr Whitehead said that the roads giving 
access to the premises were no different from others in this part of the 
country.  He also referred to other venues in the vicinity that hosted 
other social events involving large numbers which he said had similar 
road access.

11. The Sub-Committee also heard from a number of local residents who 
had made written representations, either in person or by their 
representatives.

12. Graham Clarke objected to the Application.  Mr Clarke lives at 
Bearscombe near Modbury.  He set out his objections in writing and 
was represented by his son, James Clarke at the Sub-Committee. Mr 
Clarke’s objections were he said related to public safety, prevention of 
public nuisance and protection of children from harm.  The basis for 
his objections were that there were few passing places on the roads 
leading to the premises; the roads were not safe due to the number of 
blind bends and drivers unfamiliar with the roads would drive too fast.  

13. David Furneaux objected to the Application.  Mr Furneaux lives and 
farms land at Spriddlescombe Manor Farm, Modbury.  Like Mr Clarke 
he told the Sub-Committee that the access roads were a problem and 
had it not been he would not be objecting.  He considered that the 
increase in traffic that would be the result of the Application would 
have a detrimental impact on his farm business.  He questioned the 
Applicant’s ability to rely on the Millington judgment referring to the 
sale of Dartmouth Gin, which he said relied on 99% of its ingredients 
being brought into the Estate.  Mr Furneaux drew a comparison with 
Sharpham Estate and told the Sub-Committee that Calancombe had 
twice as many vines.  He believed that the numbers of guests to the 
premises would therefore be more than the Applicant was suggesting 
and that the Applicant was underplaying the impact of numbers on the 
roads.

14. Emma Cane and Martin Daw objected to the Application.  They live at 
Higher Witchcombe Farm, Ugborough.  Mrs Cane said that she 
shared the views of Mr Clarke and Mr Furneaux.  She said that she 
recognised that the Applicant was trying run a commercial business, Page 8



LSC 7.1.21 

but suggested that if it extended with more signs, this would raise 
interest and encourage the simply curious to visit the premises which 
would add to the issues with the road.  Mrs Cane then drew the Sub-
Committee’s attention to the Applicant’s website which she said 
suggested that there would not be any need to pre-book an organised 
tour and therefore there would be, she said, continuous custom.  Mrs 
Cane concluded by saying that she also was trying to build a farm 
business and that it was not possible for her or any other farmer 
simply to operate their business depending on whether the premises 
were open or closed as had been suggested by the Applicant. 

15. Mr Roger Hosking also made representations objecting to the 
Application on the basis of public nuisance.  He lives at Crofts Park 
Modbury and was represented at the hearing by his wife, Mrs Sally 
Hosking.  Mrs Hosking explained on her husband’s behalf that the 
access roads to the premises were totally unsuitable and that existing 
traffic was already causing problems and incidents.  She therefore 
agreed with what had been said by the other objectors.  Mrs Hosking 
questioned the ability of visitors to the premises to drive along the 
roads in the vicinity of the Estate safely.  She referred to there being 
an increase in traffic since the vineyard started.  Finally, she 
suggested that the notice publicising the Application had been 
deliberately placed so that it would be difficult to read and described 
the steps some people had told her they had taken to read it.  She 
also complained about the choice of newspaper in which the notice 
had been published.

16. With regard to the last point raised by Mrs Hosking, the Licensing 
Specialist confirmed that she was satisfied that the statutory 
requirements had been met.

17. None of the Responsible Authorities raised objections nor were any 
representations received from local councillors.

18. All of the representations that have been made objecting to the 
Application have alleged that the roads giving access to the premises 
are unsuitable and as a result their use to access the premises for the 
purposes of the licensable activities would give rise to a public 
nuisance or otherwise offend the Licensing Objectives.  The Sub-
Committee was also invited by more than one of the objectors to have 
regard to planning matters.  As was said during the hearing and has 
been repeated earlier, the Sub-Committee is bound to consider only 
those matters that relate to the Licensing Objectives. The Sub-
Committee cannot take into account any issues that are dealt with in 
other legislation.  Planning and highway safety are not matters that 
can be taken into account.  In view of the obvious feelings and 
differences of opinion on such issues however, the Sub-Committee 
would encourage all parties to seek to resolve those differences 
insofar as they are able to do so.

19. Having considered what had been said and written by the various 
parties, and having regard to the statutory guidance, and the adopted 
Statement of Licensing Policy, it is considered that the Application Page 9



LSC 7.1.21 

should be granted on the terms applied for subject to the Mandatory 
Conditions. 

20. All parties have the right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 
days of receipt of written notification of the Licensing Sub-committee’s 
decision.

21. Finally, at any stage, following the grant of a premises licence a 
responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing 
authority to review the licence because of a matter arising at the 
premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives.

Chairman

Page 10



LSC 24.02.21
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD REMOTELY 
VIA TEAMS, ON WEDNESDAY, 24 FEBRUARY 2021, 10:00 am

Present: Cllrs Dan Brown (Chair), Kate Kemp, and Dan Thomas
Becky Fowlds, Specialist Legal Services
Naomi Stacey, Specialist – Licensing
Tara O’Keefe, Senior Case Manager - Licensing
Janice Young, Specialist – Democratic Services
Anna Gribble, Senior Case Manager – Democratic Services
Steve Gardiner, Specialist – IT

Also in attendance and participating:
  

Mr A Apthorpe (Applicant)
Ms S Baylis (Applicant’s representative)

LSC.8/20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting.  There were 
none.

LSC.9/20 TO DETERMINE AN APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE AT 
DOLIUM, 7 FORE STREET, KINGSWEAR, DARTMOUTH, TQ6 0AD

The Sub-Committee considered a report that sought to determine an 
application for a new premises licence at Dolium, 7 Fore Street, Kingswear, 
TQ6 0AD.

The Licensing Specialist introduced the report and outlined the details of the 
application (as stated in the application form at Appendix A, B, C, D, E, and F 
of the presented agenda report).  The Licensing Specialist reminded the Sub-
Committee that its decision had to be based upon the four licensing 
objectives.

The Officer confirmed that, since the agenda had been published, further 
information had been received from the applicant to further address the four 
licensing objectives and this had been disseminated to Committee Members 
beforehand. 

1. Address by the Applicant’s Representative

In her address, the applicant’s representative provided some background 
information to the establishment of the business and proceeded to make 
specific reference to:-

- The small number of customers who would be able to buy wine to 
consume on the premises, alongside a small amount of tapas;

Page 11



LSC 24.02.21
 

- The applicant was also the Licensee of another pub in the near vicinity, 
and therefore well aware of his obligations towards responsible alcohol 
consumption; and

- The need for this service following the closure of the only other off-
licence in the town.

Following questions from the Committee, the applicant confirmed that no 
one would be permitted to drink glasses of wine outside the shop.  The 
applicant also clarified that the food menu would be limited to cold tapas 
only, as there would be no kitchen on the premises.  The applicant 
confirmed he would wish to hold wine tasting evenings at the venue.

Once all parties were content that they had no further issues or questions 
to raise, the Sub Committee then adjourned (at 10:18 am) to consider the 
application and then reconvened at 10:37 am.

2. The Decision

In announcing the Sub-Committee decision, the following statement was 
read:   

“We have considered the application for a new premises licence, we have 
considered the statement of licencing policy, the Government guidance, 
and our objectives that relate to the promotion of the licencing objectives.  
We have read carefully the written representations from all parties and 
additional information provided to us today.  It is our decision to grant this 
application subject to two additional conditions, in addition to the standard 
decisions and those proposed by the applicant.  Customers will not be 
permitted to take open containers of alcoholic drinks from the premises.  
Alcohol sold for consumption off the premises will be in sealed containers 
only.  The reason for both conditions is to assist in the prevention of crime 
and disorder.  The full written decision of the Committee will be sent to the 
applicant within five working days.”

The full written decision is as below:

1. The Licensing Sub-Committee was convened on 24 February 2021 to 
determine an application by the Applicant for a new Premises Licence 
under the Licensing Act 2003.

2. The Sub-Committee considered the application form and 
representations received in writing and made at the hearing.

3. The Sub-Committee decided to GRANT the Application, subject to 
additional conditions listed in the Schedule below.

REASONS FOR THE DECISION

4. The Sub-Committee considered the application form together with 
representations received in writing, the Licensing Officer’s report, and 
the representations of the Applicant.

Page 12



LSC 24.02.21
 

5. The Sub-Committee considered the application in line with the four 
Licensing Objectives and consideration was also given to the 
Government Guidance issued under Section 182 of the 2003 Act, the 
submitted Operating Schedule and the Council’s Statement of 
Licensing Policy.

6. The Sub-Committee received a presentation from the Licensing Officer 
who referred to the officer report and advised that no objections had 
been received from any of the Responsible Authorities.  The officer 
confirmed to the Sub-Committee that the objections advising that there 
was no demonstrable need for the premises were not relevant and 
could not be taken into account.  The Sub-Committee was referred to 
conditions proposed by the Applicant in section M of his application and 
the additional summary provided by the Applicant in response to the 
representations.

7. The Sub-Committee heard oral representations from Sophie Baylis on 
behalf of the Applicant who was also present.  The purpose of the 
application was outlined as a wine shop in small premises with tables 
identified on the plan provided with the application, for limited food, 
namely tapas.  The Sub-Committee was advised that the Applicant was 
the Designated Premises Supervisor at the Ship Inn which is in close 
proximity to the premises.  

8. The Members of the public who had written in support and against the 
application had not requested to appear at the Licensing Sub-
Committee and the Sub-Committee relied on the written 
representations received. 

9. The Sub-Committee found that the application was for a small 
premises, primarily to sell wine, located on the main street in Kingswear 
and public houses were located in the vicinity.  The Sub-Committee 
gave great weight to the fact that the Applicant was the current DPS for 
the Ship Inn and that the police had raised no objection to his suitability 
to hold a licence, had raised no objection to the application nor had 
they considered any additional conditions were necessary.  

10. The Sub-Committee noted that no representations had been 
made in relation to the Licensing Objective regarding the Protection of 
Children from Harm.  Mandatory Conditions relating to age verification 
will be imposed on the licence and the Applicant will adopt a Challenge 
25 policy in respect of sales of alcohol in addition to the conditions 
proposed at Section M of the application.

11. The Sub Committee had noted the objection on the grounds of 
public safety because of the absence of a pavement directly outside the 
premises.  In the absence of any concern from the police, the size and 
purpose of the premises and the conditions in section M and the 
additional summary submitted, the Sub-Committee considered that an 
objection on this ground could not be sustained.  

12. The Sub-Committee did note the location of the premises may 
attract some customers to take advantage of the views on the opposite Page 13



LSC 24.02.21
 

side of the road.  Representations had been made that the application 
could result in public nuisance with consumption of alcohol off the 
premises.  The Sub-Committee noted the Challenge 25 policy but felt it 
appropriate to impose two additional conditions as follows:-

i) Customers will not be permitted to take open containers of alcoholic 
drinks from the premises.

ii) Alcohol sold for consumption off the premises will be in sealed 
containers only.

13. Details of the hours permitted for licensable activities and 
opening hours and additional conditions are in the attached Schedule.

Additional conditions:

Prevention of crime and disorder/public nuisance

Customers will not be permitted to take open containers of alcoholic drinks 
from the premises.

Alcohol sold for consumption off the premises will be in sealed containers 
only.

Chairman
(meeting closed at 10:39 am)

Activity Description Time from Time to
Sale and Supply of 
Alcohol 
(consumption off the 
premises)

Monday to Saturday 10:00 23:00

Opening hours Monday to Sunday 10:00 23:00

Page 14



LSC 22.04.21
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD REMOTELY 
VIA TEAMS, ON WEDNESDAY, 22 APRIL 2021, 2:00 pm

Present: Cllrs Dan Brown (Chair), Helen Reeve, and Pete Smerdon
Becky Fowlds, Specialist Legal Services
Naomi Stacey, Specialist – Licensing
Tara O’Keefe, Senior Case Manager - Licensing
Janice Young, Specialist – Democratic Services
Anna Gribble, Senior Case Manager – Democratic Services
Steve Gardiner, Specialist – IT

Also in attendance and participating:
  

John Belcher, Martin Sibley, Dr Polly Magne

LSC.10/20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting.  Cllr P Smerdon 
declared a personal interest in Ivybridge Rugby Club as he had used the 
facilities there in the past.  The Member remained in the meeting and took 
part in the debate thereon.

LSC.11/20 TO DETERMINE AN APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE AT 
IVYBRIDGE RFC LTD, IVYBRIDGE RUGBY CLUB, EXETER ROAD, 
IVYBRIDGE, PL21 0LR

The Sub-Committee considered a report that sought to determine an 
application for a new premises licence at the Ivybridge Rugby Club, Exeter 
Road, Ivybridge, PL21 0LR

The Licensing Specialist introduced the report and outlined the details of the 
application (as stated in the application form at Appendix A, B, C, and D of the 
presented agenda report).  The Licensing Specialist clarified that the report 
should have read Friday and Saturday evenings not Saturday and Sunday 
evenings, as outlined in the attendant report.  The Specialist reminded the 
Sub-Committee that its decision had to be based upon the four licensing 
objectives. 

1. Address by the Applicant

In his address the applicant made specific reference to:

 The set up at the Rugby Club, including terms of membership
 Hours requested were for only when the building was hired out
 Noise control was in place already and most events would be 

inside
 When the building was hired out with a bar, bar staff would be on 

hand, building hire without a bar would have someone on site. Page 15



LSC 22.04.21
 

 A safeguarding officer was required as part of RFU membership.
 No extensions were requested for Fridays in term time as this night 

was reserved for children.

2. Address by objectors

During the presentations by the objectors, the following points were 
raised:-

 Concerns over underage drinking in the area
 Potential increase in traffic to the Rugby Club
 Noise levels would potentially increase
 Mitigation may include limiting alcohol sales to on-site only and 

amplified music to be restricted in sound level

(The Sub Committee then adjourned, in the presence of the Lawyer, at 
2:48 pm to consider the application and reconvened at 3:24pm.)

3. The Decision

In announcing the Sub-Committee decision, the following statement was 
read:   

“We have considered the application for a new premises licence. 

“We have considered the Statement of Licensing Policy, the government 
guidance and our obligations that relate to the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.

“We have read carefully the written representations from all parties and 
additional information provided to us today. 
 
“It is our decision to grant this application subject to the following changes 
being incorporated into the operating schedule. We have determined the 
changes to be appropriate in order to achieve the licensing objectives:

1. No sales of alcohol to be consumed off the premises
The reason we have decided upon this the concerns about people, 
particularly children congregating off the premises in the nearby 
vicinity. Thus contributing to the promotion of all four licensing 
objectives.

2. Sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises to be limited on 
Friday and Saturday from 10am to 11.30pm. This does not affect 
the special events listed in the application.
The reason for this is to promote the prevention of public nuisance 
licensing objective.

 

Page 16



LSC 22.04.21
 

“The Council will publish its decision with reasons in writing and send to 
relevant parties within five working days.”

Chairman

(meeting closed at 3:30 pm)

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



LSC 29.4.21 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD AT 
FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES ON THURSDAY 29 APRIL 2021

Present: Cllrs Dan Brown (Chairman), Tom Holway and Guy Pannell
David Fairbairn, Monitoring Officer
Naomi Stacey, Licensing Specialist
Darryl White, Senior Specialist – Democratic Services

Also in attendance and participating:
  

Mr Chris Hart (Applicant’s Representative)
Mr Matt Prowse (Applicant)
Mr Mitch Tonks (Applicant)

LSC.12/20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting but there were 
none made.

LSC.13/20 TO DETERMINE AN APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE AT 
ROCKFISH TAKEAWAY, 28 LOWER STREET, DARTMOUTH TQ6 9AN

The Sub-Committee considered a report that sought to determine an 
application for a new premises licence at Rockfish Takeaway, 28 Lower 
Street, Dartmouth TQ6 9AN.

The Licensing Specialist introduced the report and outlined the details of the 
application (as stated in the application form at Appendix A of the presented 
agenda report).  In so doing, she highlighted that objection numbers 2 and 8 
had been withdrawn subject to adherence to the updated conditions.

1. Address by the Applicant’s Representative

In his address, the applicant’s representative provided some background 
information to the establishment of the business and proceeded to make 
specific reference to:-

- the application being reflective of customer demand and only seeking 
approval of one licensable activity;

- all nine of the other Rockfish establishments already having a 
premises licence.  The representative advised that none of these nine 
establishments had ever received any complaints related to any of the 
four licensing objectives.  Furthermore, the applicants were highly 
experienced and committed to training their staff;

- the premises were food led and there was no interest from the 
applicants in developing a public house type establishment;

- mitigating the concerns expressed over additional littering.  To mitigate 
the concerns that had been raised, the representative informed that 

Page 19



LSC 29.4.21 

three additional conditions had been put forward that had resulted in 
the removal of two of the objections that had been initially submitted;

- any objections relating to licensing need being irrelevant to this 
Hearing;

- alcohol would only be sold alongside ‘substantial food’ purchased from 
the premises; and

- the lack of evidence to support some of the objector comments 
whereby the bulk of littering was alleged to have been generated from 
the Rockfish Takeaway.  In reply, a Member stated his hope that all 
neighbouring premises could work together in a concerted effort to 
reduce the amount of littering in Dartmouth.

2. Addresses by the Applicants

In their respective addresses, the applicants made particular reference to:

- their commitment to the town of Dartmouth and the prevention of 
littering within the town;

- the onus on staff cleaning and training regimes were highlighted; and
- the company being particularly aware of its environmental 

responsibilities.  As an example, returnable packaging was currently 
being trialled by the company and, if successful, it was hoped that this 
would be in place in time for the summer of 2022.

Once all parties were content that they had no further issues or questions to 
raise, the Sub Committee then adjourned (at 3.00pm) in the presence of Mr 
Fairbairn to consider the application and then reconvened at 3.45pm.

3. The Decision

In announcing the Sub-Committee decision, the Chairman read out the 
following statement:

“We have considered the application for a new premises licence in 
accordance with the Licensing Act 2003.

We have considered the application form, including the plan of the 
premises and representatives received in writing and made at this 
Hearing.

We have decided to GRANT the Application subject to inclusion of the 
additional conditions as set out below.

By way of setting the scene for our decision, the Licensing Sub-
Committee is mindful that an application must be considered on its own 
merits.  Our function is to take such steps as we consider appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives having regard to the 
representations we have received and heard.

Having considered what had been said and written by the various parties, 
and having regard to the statutory guidance, and the adopted Statement Page 20



LSC 29.4.21 

of Licensing Policy, the Sub-Committee consider that if the Application 
was to be granted then it would depend upon there being appropriate and 
enforceable conditions.  The Applicant has proposed additional conditions 
to deal with the representations that had been received.  During the 
hearing the Sub-Committee asked about the precision and enforceability 
of those conditions with the Applicant. In light of which, it is considered 
that the Application should be granted on the terms applied for subject to 
the Mandatory Conditions, the operating schedule conditions and the 
additional conditions proposed by the Applicant, the additional conditions 
are amended as follows:

Public Safety 

1. No alcohol shall be served in a glass container

Prevention of public nuisance

3. Members of staff will ensure that all litter and waste food generated by 
patrons in the vicinity of the premises will be collected and disposed of. 
Periodic checks (being no fewer than four times each day, including 
one at closing time) will be conducted by the staff to enable this to be 
done. Records of the periodic checks shall be made and the records 
shall be made available for inspection by the Licensing Authority upon 
reasonable request.”

Chairman

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



LSC 04.08.21
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE HELD REPTON 
ROOM, FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES, ON WEDNESDAY, 4 AUGUST 2021, 10:00 am

Present: Cllrs Dan Brown (Chair), Rosemary Rowe, and Bernard Taylor
David Fairbairn, Monitoring Officer & Solicitor
Naomi Stacey, Specialist – Licensing
Tara O’Keefe, Senior Case Manager – Licensing
Janice Young, Specialist – Democratic Services
Anna Gribble, Senior Case Manager – Democratic Services
Steve Gardiner, Specialist – IT

Also in attendance and participating:
  

Mr R Mitchell, Mr P Bulraff, Mr R Moreley, Mr R and Mrs P Sargent, Mr J 
Salkins, and Ms H Carter

LSC.01/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting.  There were 
none.

LSC.02/21 TO DETERMINE THE VARIATION TO THE PREMISES LICENCE AT THE 
ALBERT INN, TOTNES

The Sub-Committee considered a report that sought to determine an 
application for a variation to the premises licence at The Albert Inn, Totnes

The Licensing Specialist introduced the report and outlined the details of the 
application (as stated in the application form at Appendices A(i), A(ii), B(i), 
B(ii), C, D, E, F, G, and H of the presented agenda report).  The Licensing 
Specialist reminded the Sub-Committee that its decision had to be based 
upon the four licensing objectives.

Following clarification, sale of alcohol four times a year to set up a little bar 
outside, with sitting anytime.  

1. Address by the Applicant

Two Letters of Representation had been withdrawn on clarification of the 
parking lot, and another one had been received in support from CamRA.  
It was confirmed that the sale of alcohol in the bar outside would be for 
four times per year when the pub would be having beer festivals.  These 
events had occurred in the past but had previously been covered by 
applying for TEN (Temporary Event Notice) applications.

A smoking area in the garden had been constructed to stop people 
standing and smoking on the public pathways.  Covid impact would 
continue the increased use of the garden, however, no heaters had been 
placed out in the garden so that drinkers would not be encouraged to Page 23



LSC 04.08.21
 

remain outside when it got cold.  It was confirmed that the fence and 
smoking area already had signage asking patrons to show respect for the 
neighbours.  Any noisy disruptive customers would be asked to be quieter, 
noted in the diary, and if continued the customer would be refused 
service.

The applicant clarified that he had to check with the internet to discern 
when dusk was each day and he would prefer consistent time defined.

2. Address by objectors

The objector highlighted that noise was an issue for him as his living room 
was the same level as the outside space.  He maintained that no real 
action was taken when the noise had been claimed about and that it 
sometimes appeared as if there were ‘fisticuffs’ in his living room.

3. Address by supporters

The supporters maintained that the applicant had been amenable to 
solving issues raised with him and that any transgressions in the beer 
garden were quickly resolved.  Most in the vicinity were in support of the 
application and concurred that the noise was not excessive.

A question was asked of the applicant if he would be willing to 
compromise and close the garden at 10:00 pm.  The applicant agreed this 
would be acceptable for the winter months, but would prefer 11:00pm for 
the summer months.  The applicant suggested summer months as 1st 
April to 31st October as his Halloween beer festival was on 31st October.

(The Sub Committee then adjourned, in the presence of the Lawyer, at 
10:48 am to consider the application and reconvened at 11:07am.)

4. The Decision

In announcing the Sub-Committee decision, the following statement was 
read:   

1. “The aim of the Licensing Act 2003 is to provide a more flexible 
licensing system, by reducing the burden of unnecessary regulation, 
but still maintaining public order and safety.  The 2003 Act makes it 
clear that licensable activities are to be restricted only where it is 
necessary to promote the four Licensing Objectives. 

2. “In determining an application with a view to promoting the Licensing 
Objectives in the overall interests of the local community, the Sub-
Committee is required to give appropriate weight to: 

• the steps that are appropriate to promote the Licensing 
Objectives; 

• the representations (including supporting information) 
presented by all the parties; 

• the Guidance issued under section 182 of the 2003 Act; andPage 24



LSC 04.08.21
 

• our own statement of licensing policy.

3. “The statutory guidance provides that it is imperative that our 
decision is evidence-based and that in reaching a decision the 
factors which are to be taken into account are limited to a 
consideration of the promotion of the licensing objectives and 
nothing outside those parameters.

4. “The Licensing Specialist’s report has also highlighted relevant 
provisions of the statutory guidance and our own statement of 
licensing policy.

5. “Finally, by way of setting the scene for our decision, the Licensing 
Sub-Committee is mindful that an application that must be 
considered on its own merits.  Our function is to take such steps as 
we consider appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives 
having regard to the representations we have received and heard.

  
6. “It is against this background that the Sub-Committee has 

considered the application to vary to the Premises Licence at The 
Albert Inn, Totnes.  The proposal seeks to extend the premises 
licence plan to include an area used previously for private parking so 
that it can be used for the sale and consumption of alcohol.  In 
addition, the application proposes the replacement of the conditions 
currently included at Annex 2 of the premises licence with a new set 
of conditions that are said to be more up-to-date and enforceable.

7. “During the public consultation on the application, seven 
representations were received from members of the public.  Those 
representations objecting to the proposal were mainly concerned 
about the extension of the hours during which licensable activities 
were permitted in the beer garden from dusk to 11pm and the 
potential for public nuisance due to noise.

8. “The Sub-Committee recognised that due to changes in the law 
since the premises licence was granted originally, there were 
conditions in Annex 2 that duplicated the mandatory conditions in 
Annex 1 and it was quite right that these should not be carried over.  
The Sub-Committee also recognised that again due to changes in 
the law there were further conditions that were unenforceable and 
likewise should not remain on the premises licence.  However, the 
Sub-Committee was concerned that the proposed variation did not 
include all of the conditions that were neither irrelevant nor 
unenforceable.

9. “On the principal concern of those objecting to the proposed 
variation on the basis of noise and disturbance we noted that there 
had been no representations from Environmental Health raising 
concerns about the potential for noise and disturbance.  This does 
not mean that the concerns of those objecting were not genuinely 
held.  However, the Sub-Committee noted that “Dusk” was an 
imprecise term capable of producing at least three different timings.  
The suggestion of setting a time is something that the Sub-Page 25



LSC 04.08.21
 

Committee therefore considered to be sensible and appropriate.  
During the hearing it was suggested a potential compromise would 
be for 10pm,  Having heard the further representations, we consider 
that the time for closure of the outside area for the consumption of 
alcohol should be 10pm between 1 November to 31 March; and 
11pm between 1 April to 31 October.

10. “So, having considered what had been said and written by the 
various parties, and having regard to the statutory guidance, and the 
adopted Statement of Licensing Policy, the Sub-Committee 
considered that the application should be granted, but with the 
additional condition suggested by the Police requiring a refusals 
register to be kept and those existing conditions for which no direct 
replacement had been proposed added to those proposed by the 
Applicant.  The details will be included in the formal decision.

11. “All parties have the right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 
21 days of receipt of written notification of the Licensing Sub-
committee’s decision.

12. “Finally, at any stage, following the grant of a premises licence a 
responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing 
authority to review the licence because of a matter arising at the 
premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives.”

It was clarified that the conditions for which there was no direct 
replacement and therefore were to be carried over were:

3, 7, 8, 10, 12, 20, 24, 28, 30 – 36, 42, 43 and 47.

The full written decision would be sent out within five working days. 

(meeting closed at 11:11 am)

Chairman

Page 26



Report to: Licensing Committee 

Date: 11 November 2021

Title: Three-Yearly Review of Gambling Statement 
of Licensing Principles

Portfolio Area: Customer First

Wards Affected: All

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:

Urgent Decision: Y Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Date next steps can be taken: Full Council on 25 
November 2021 – see below recommendation

Author: Naomi Stacey Role: Specialist - Licensing

Contact: 01803 861268 / naomi.stacey@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  

1. That the Licensing Committee considers the draft Statement of 
Principles (Appendix A) and responses received during the public 
consultation and makes any changes it deems necessary.

2. That the Licensing Committee recommends to Council that the draft 
Statement of Principles, as amended, is adopted at the meeting on 25 
November 2021 for the period 31 January 2022 to 30 January 2025.

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



1. Executive summary 

1.1 The Council’s Licensing Authority has responsibilities under the 
Gambling Act 2005 (the ‘Act’) to issue premises licences, 
registrations, various types of permits and temporary permissions 
in respect of premises where it is proposed gambling take place.

1.2 Section 349 of the Act requires the Licensing Authority to prepare 
and publish a statement of the principles that it proposes to apply 
in exercising its functions under the Act during the three-year 
period to which the Policy relates. South Hams District Council 
adopted the initial Gambling Statement of Principles in November 
2006. This review of the Policy must be adopted in advance of 
January 2022.

1.3 Before determining the Statement, Licensing Authorities must first 
consult with certain persons or bodies in accordance with Section 
349 of the said Act, namely:
 The Chief Officer of Police;
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent 

the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the 
authority’s area;

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent 
the interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the 
exercise of the authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 
2005.

A list of the organisations/persons consulted is provided at 
Appendix B. The Statement was subject to a public consultation 
during the period 13 September to 24 October 2021.

1.4 A summary of the changes from the current version (2019-2022), 
is provided at Appendix C. As the policy was updated in detail in 
2019, only minor changes are required. The main proposed changes 
include more detail on the Licensing Authority’s expectations when 
dealing with separation of premises, further information regarding 
premises licence plans and an overall update to the document with 
regard to the Gambling Commission’s new Guidance and codes of 
practice.

1.5 The current Statement of Principles for 2019-2022 and the original 
consultation responses for the draft Statement are included within 
the background documents and are available upon request. A 
summary of the consultation responses, together with suggested 
amendments can be found at Appendix D. The suggested 
amendments have been provisionally incorporated into the revised 
draft 2022-2025 Statement, attached at Appendix A.

2. Background 

2.1 Not all gambling is dealt with by District Councils, for example, the 
Financial Services Authority and the National Lottery Commission 
continue to regulate spread betting and the National Lottery 

Page 28



respectively. The Gambling Commission are responsible for granting 
operating and personal licences for commercial gambling (such as 
casinos and bingo halls) and to personnel working in the industry. 
District Councils issue the premises licences and permits for betting 
shops, bingo halls and for gambling machines etc.

2.2 The Act contains three licensing objectives which underpin the 
functions of the Licensing Authority. These are:-

a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and 
disorder, being associated with crime or disorder, or being 
used to support crime;
b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open 
way; and
c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling.

2.3 In determining its Policy, the Authority must have regard to 
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission under Section 25 of 
the Act, and give appropriate weight to representations made 
within the consultation period.

2.4 The draft Policy has been prepared in consultation with the Devon 
Licensing Officers’ Group and takes account of advice issued by the 
Local Government Association and the Gambling Commission 
Guidance to Local Authorities which was last updated in May 2021.

2.5 At this Committee meeting, Members will have a final 
opportunity to make any further amendments before a 
recommendation seeking approval is considered by the 
Council at its meeting on 25 November 2021.

3. Outcomes/outputs 

3.1 Adoption Procedure

3.2 Legislation prescribes that the Council is empowered to adopt the 
Draft Statement of Principles. Adoption cannot be delegated to the 
Licensing Committee.

3.3 The following timetable is proposed in respect of the consultation 
and adoption of the Statement of Principles:

Action Date
Draft Statement of Principles published and distributed 
for consultation.

13 September 2021

Consultation concludes 24 October 2021
Licensing Committee approval of revised Statement of 
Principles and agrees to recommend to Council for 
adoption

11 November 2021

Revised Statement of Principles approved by Council 25 November 2021
Statement of Principles published (at the latest) 3 January 2022

Page 29



Statement of Principles comes into effect 31 January 2022

4. Options available and consideration of risk 

4.1 Failure to produce a Gambling Statement of Principles in accordance 
with s.349 Gambling Act 2005 and its accompanying Regulations 
would be a breach of statutory duty. It would render the Council 
powerless to make decisions or exercise the licensing objectives in 
its locality.

4.2 Should the Statement not be adopted, the Council would be open to 
criticism and legal challenge.

4.3 The correct consultation process of the draft policy was undertaken 
between 13 September and 24 October 2021. See Appendix B for 
full list of those consulted. Following meeting of Licensing 
Committee on 11 November 2018, on track for adoption of 
Statement of Principles at Council meeting on 25 November 2021.

5.  Proposed Way Forward 

5.1 The Licensing Committee recommends to Council that the draft 
Statement of Principles, as amended, is adopted at the meeting on 
25 November 2021 for the period 31 January 2022 to 30 January 
2025.

6. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/
Governance

Y Section 349 of the Act requires the Licensing 
Authority to prepare and publish a statement of the 
principles it proposes to apply in exercising its 
functions under the Act during the three-year period 
to which the policy relates.

Section 349(3) requires the Licensing Authority to 
consult the following 
           persons/bodies:
• In England and Wales, the chief officer of 
police for the authority’s area;
• One or more persons who appear to the 
authority to represent the interests of persons 
carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s 
area;
• One or more persons who appear to the 
authority to represent the interests of persons who 
are likely to be affected by the exercise of the 

Page 30



authority’s functions under the Act.

Before publishing the revised Policy, the Licensing 
Authority is required to publish a notice of its 
intention to public a statement or revision on its 
website and in/on one or more of the following 
places:

 A local newspaper circulating in the area 
covered by the statement;

 A local newsletter, circular, or similar 
document circulating in the area covered by 
the statement;

 A public notice board in or near the principal 
office of the authority;

 A public notice board on the premises of 
public libraries in the area covered by the 
statement.

Legislation requires the Statement to take effect 
from 31 January 2022, but to be published and in 
place 4 weeks before.

Financial The associated preparation and publication costs will 
be met in full from Gambling Act 2005 applications 
and annual fees income.  Therefore, there are no 
financial implications to the Council from this report.

Risk Failure to produce a Gambling Statement of 
Principles in accordance with the Gambling Act 2005 
and its accompanying Regulations is a breach of 
statutory duty and will render Council powerless to 
make decisions or exercise the licensing objectives 
in its locality.
Not adopting Policy could leave Council open to 
criticism and legal challenge.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

There is the duty on Council when considering 
applications or enforcement action to comply with 
Human Rights Act 1998. Equality Impact 
Assessment carried out prior to publication.

Safeguarding Protecting children and other vulnerable persons 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling is one 
of the licensing objectives underpinning the 
Gambling Act 2005.

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or 
disorder, being associated with crime and disorder, 
or being used to support crime is one of the 
licensing objectives underpinning the Gambling Act 
2005.

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

Page 31



Other 
implications

Supporting Information

Appendices:

Appendix A – Draft Gambling Statement of Licensing Principles

Appendix B – List of organisations/persons consulted

Appendix C – Summary of changes

Appendix D – Summary of consultation responses and suggested 
amendments

Background Papers:

 Gambling Act 2005 and associated relevant Regulations
 Guidance issued under the Gambling Act 2005 (updated May 2021)
 Gambling Commission Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 

(LCCP)
 South Hams District Council’s Gambling Statement of Principles, 

which expires January 2022
 Consultation responses
 Tackling Gambling Related Harm – A Whole Council Approach, Local 

Government Association (LGA) in conjunction with Public Health 
England, July 2018.

 Gambling-related Harm as a Public Health Issue – Briefing paper for 
Local Authorities and local Public Health providers February 2018.

 Gambling regulation: Councillor handbook (England and Wales) 31 
March 2018

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed Yes/No
SLT Rep briefed Yes/No
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes/No
Data protection issues considered Yes/No
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny)

Yes/No

Page 32



1

DRAFT
Statement of Principles

UNDER THE GAMBLING ACT 2005
For the period 31st January 2022 to 30th January 2025

If you or someone you know would like this publication in a different 
format, such as larger print or a language other than English, please 

email: licensing@swdevon.gov.uk

Page 33

mailto:licensing@swdevon.gov.uk


2

Table of Contents

Item Page
Part A

1 Licensing Objectives 3
2 Introduction 3
3 Description of the Licensing Authority Area 4
4 Review of Statement of Principles 6
5 Declaration 7
6 The Overriding Principle 7
7 Relationship with other Legislation 8
8 Responsible Authorities 8
9 Interested Parties 8
10 Exchange of Information 10
11 Enforcement 10
12 Licensing Authority Functions 11
13 The Licensing Process 12
14 General Principles where Gaming Machines are provided 12
15 Children and Vulnerable Persons 13

Part B – Premises Licences
1 General Principles 15
2 Adult Gaming Centres 27
3 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 28
4 Casinos 29
5 Bingo Premises 29
6 Betting Premises 29
7 Tracks 30
8 Travelling Fairs 32
9 Provisional Statements 33
10 Reviews 34

Part C – Permits/Temporary & Occasional Use Notices
1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 36
2 (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 40
3 Prize Gaming Permits 41
4 Club Gaming & Club Machine Permits 45
5 Temporary Use Notices 47
6 Occasional Use Notices 47
7 Licensed Vessels 48
8 Lotteries 48

Appendix A - Responsible Authorities 50
Appendix B  - Licensing Authority Delegations 53
Appendix C – Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults 54

Page 34



3

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 
Text in the shaded boxes within this Statement of Principles are advisory only and intended 
to give assistance to applicants, interested persons and responsible authorities.

Part A

1 The Licensing Objectives

1.1 The Licensing Authority has a duty under the Gambling Act 2005 to carry out its 
licensing functions in a manner which is consistent with three licensing objectives. 
The licensing objectives are:

 preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder, or being used to support crime

 ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and

 protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling.

1.2 This Licensing Authority notes at paragraph 5.34 of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to licensing authorities that:

“Licensing authorities should be aware that other considerations such as moral or 
ethical objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises 
licences. In deciding to reject an application, a Licensing Authority should rely on 
reasons that demonstrate that the licensing objectives are not being, or are unlikely to 
be, met, and as such objections do not relate to the licensing objectives. An authority’s 
decision cannot be based on dislike of gambling, or a general notion that it is 
undesirable to allow gambling premises in an area (with the exception of the casino 
resolution powers).” 

Applicants are also advised to note Part B of this Statement of Principles:-
 Premises Licences – General Principles

2 Introduction

2.1 The Act gives licensing authorities a number of important regulatory functions.  The 
main functions are:-
 license premises for gambling activities;
 consider notices given for the temporary use of premises for gambling;
 grant permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs and miners’ welfare 

institutes;
 regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises;
 grant permits to family entertainment centres for the use of certain lower stake 

gaming machines;
 grant permits for prize gaming;
 consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks; and
 register small societies’ lotteries.

Page 35



4

2.2 This Statement of Licensing Principles is written according to the provisions of the 
Act and the Guidance issued under s.25 of the Act by the Gambling Commission.

2.3 All references to ‘the Guidance’ refer to the Gambling Commission Guidance to 
licensing authorities 5th Edition published in September 2015 and last updated in 
September 2016.

2.4 The Statement takes effect on 31 January 2022.

The Statement of Principles was approved at a meeting of the Full Council on TBC and 
was published via our website on TBC. Copies are available for viewing by giving prior 
notice to the District Council Offices, Follaton House, Plymouth Road, Totnes, TQ9 5NE  

Should you have comments regarding this Statement of Principles please write to the 
above address or email licensing@swdevon.gov.uk .
This statement will not override the right of any person to make an application, make 
representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each will be 
considered on its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling 
Act 2005. 

3 Description of the Licensing Authority Area

3.1 The South Hams reaches into Dartmoor to the north and has 60 miles of magnificent 
coast to the south.  The city of Plymouth lies to the west and the urban area of 
Torbay to the east.  

Page 36

mailto:licensing@swdevon.gov.uk


5

3.2 The South Hams had an estimated population of 87,946 in 20201, with around one 
third of the population living in the four main towns of Dartmouth, Ivybridge, 
Kingsbridge and Totnes.  The majority of South Hams residents live in the 
surrounding villages, hamlets and isolated cottages spread across the 350 square 
miles of beautiful countryside.

3.3 The South Hams has a higher proportion of older people (aged 65 years or over) 
than the national average and the average house price is £346,584, compared with 
the national average of £284,0292.  Unemployment in the area is lower than the 
national average with a rate of 3.7% in 2020, compared to 4.6% nationally3. 
However, the appearance of the district conceals the statistic that wages are 
amongst the lowest in the United Kingdom, with a median annual gross income over 
£4,000 lower4 than the national median average5.

 
3.4 The entertainment and tourist industry is a major contributor to the economy of the 

South Hams.  It attracts visitors and local residents, makes for vibrant communities 
and is a major employer.  Tourism makes a significant contribution to the South 
Hams economy. This tourist economy brings with it certain gambling activities, 
particularly at seaside locations, such as family entertainment centres.

3.5 The Licensing Authority is currently responsible for 2 betting shops, located in the 
towns of Kingsbridge and Dartmouth (August 2021. The South Hams has nearly 500 
licensed premises and members clubs under the Licensing Act 2003, some of which 
have notifications for gaming machines or hold club machine permits. There are also 
two licensed bingo premises in the area.

3.6  This Policy promotes the Council’s Core Purpose which is: ‘To make a positive 
impact on the lives of local people by providing valued and easy to use services.’ The 
Council’s Corporate Strategy Themes are ‘Homes, Wellbeing, Communities, Council, 
Enterprise and Environment.’

3.7 Local Area Profile

3.7.1 The Gambling Commission recommends that the Licensing Authority completes its 
own Local Area Profile to ‘map out’ local areas of concern, to develop a better 
awareness of the local area and risks. It is recommended that when considering 
risks, possible future emerging risks are taken into consideration, as well as current 
risks.

3.7.2 An effective local area profile will take into account a wide range of factors, data and 
information held by the Licensing Authority and its partners. An important element 
would include proactive engagement with Responsible Authorities as well as other 
organisations in the area that can give input to ‘map’ local risks in the area.

3.7.3 Due to the wide range of information that is needed to input into such a profile, this 
Authority is not currently in a position to publish and consult upon a draft Local Area 

1 Population estimates and projections, Devon County Council: 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/factsandfigures/the-people/population-estimates/
2 HM Land Registry UK House Price Index England: June 2021:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-house-price-index-england-june-2021/uk-house-price-index-england-june-2021 
3 NOMIS Official Labour Market Statistics
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157362/printable.aspx 
4 Average earnings, Devon County Council
https://www.devon.gov.uk/factsandfigures/the-economy/average-earnings/ 
5 Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, Office for National Statistics
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/datasets/ashe1997to2015selecte
destimates 

Page 37

https://www.devon.gov.uk/factsandfigures/the-people/population-estimates/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-house-price-index-england-june-2021/uk-house-price-index-england-june-2021
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157362/printable.aspx
https://www.devon.gov.uk/factsandfigures/the-economy/average-earnings/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/datasets/ashe1997to2015selectedestimates
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/datasets/ashe1997to2015selectedestimates


6

Profile. However, this will be reviewed and if such a Profile is developed it will be 
consulted upon and any information that may assist in its production would be 
welcomed. 

3.8 Better Businesses for All (BBfA)

3.8.1 South Hams District Council are fully committed to the Devon and Somerset Better 
Business for All (BBfA) Regulatory Services Partnership, which is endorsed by the 
Better Regulatory Delivery Office (BRDO), which is part of the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS).  The purpose is to build a local 
partnership between businesses and regulators across Devon and Somerset to 
promote economic prosperity, while maintaining public protection.  This document will 
make sure that the Regulator will work in accordance with the BBfA principles.  In 
doing so the Authority will create an environment and culture which will support our 
local businesses by making the activity that is being regulated easy to access, simple 
and clear to understand, while ensuring public protection

3.8.2 The Council will listen to business needs and act in an open and transparent way to 
help shape the way support is provided, this will be done following business 
consultations and throughout service use.

3.8.3 Better Business for All is business-focused, using business-led improvements to 
create better regulation, support business growth and create a level playing field for 
businesses.  In order to achieve this the Policy will be implemented consistently with 
competent enforcement staff who are working with the right attitudes and behaviours 
for the benefit of our Communities.

4 Review of Statement of Principles (Consultation)

4.1 Licensing authorities are required by the Act to publish a statement of the principles 
which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  This statement must be 
published at least every three years.  The statement must also be reviewed from “time 
to time” and any amended parts re-consulted upon.  The statement must then be re-
published.

4.2 The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by Licensing                                                  
            Authorities:

 The Chief Officer of Police;
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area;
 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions 
under the Gambling Act 2005.

4.3       List of persons this authority will consult include the following:

 All Responsible Authorities under Gambling Act 2005 – see Appendix A
 British Amusement Catering Trade Association (BACTA)
 Citizens Advice
 Dartmouth Business News
 Dartmoor National Park Authority
 Devon Children and Families Partnership
 Devon County Council Social Care
 Devon Health and Wellbeing Board

Page 38



7

 District Councillors
 Gamble Aware
 Gamblers Anonymous
 Gambling Commission
 GamCare
 Local residents/businesses and their representatives via the Council website 

and associated press release.
 Ivybridge Chamber of Commerce
 Kingsbridge, Salcombe and Modbury Chamber of Commerce
 Mencap
 MIND
 Modbury and District Business Chamber 
 NSPCC
 Police and Crime Commissioner
 Representatives of existing licence-holders
 South Devon & Dartmoor Community Safety Partnership
 Totnes and District Chamber of Commerce 
 Town and Parish Councillors

4.4 Proper weight will be given to the views of all those who have been consulted prior 
to the date of implementation of the Statement of Principles.

4.5 Should you have any comments regarding this Statement of Principles, please 
email licensing@swdevon.gov.uk .

Our consultation took place between 13 September and 24 October 2021.We followed the 
government’s Consultation Principles 2018. 

5 Declaration

5.1 In producing the final Statement of Principles, this Licensing Authority declares that it 
has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission, and any responses from those consulted on 
the statement.

6 The Overriding Principle

6.1 In exercising its functions under the Act, this Licensing Authority will aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks that the practice will:

 be in accordance with the Gambling Act & associated legislation;
 be in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice;
 have regard to the relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;
 be reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 have regard to this Statement of Principles.

6.2 Each case will be considered on its merits.

6.3 In deciding whether or not to grant a licence, this authority does not have regard to 
the expected demand for the facilities that are subject to the application.

Page 39

mailto:licensing@swdevon.gov.uk


8

6.4     The overriding principle does not, however, apply to the consideration of an 
application for a casino licence if this authority resolves not to issue casino premises 
licenses.

7 Relationship with other legislation

7.1 This Licensing Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with planning or other 
statutory / regulatory systems where possible. This authority will not consider whether 
a licence application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations 
approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though, listen to, and consider carefully, any 
concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning 
restrictions, should such a situation arise.

 
7.2    The grant of a licence does not imply the approval of other legislative requirements.

Applicants for Premises Licences for Casinos, Bingo Halls, Adult or Family Entertainment 
Centres (licensed or unlicensed) or Permits are advised to speak to the Planning 
Department of this Council before making a formal application to the Licensing Authority.

8 Responsible Authorities 

8.1 Responsible authorities are those public bodies, as specified by the Gambling Act, 
which must be notified of applications for premises licences. Such bodies are entitled 
to make representations to the Licensing Authority in relation to the applications.
The Responsible Authorities are detailed in Appendix A.

8.2    The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply 
in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a 
body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from 
harm.  The principles are:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole 
of the Licensing Authority’s area; and 

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected 
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group.

8.3   In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local 
authorities, this authority designates Devon Children and Families Partnership for this 
purpose.

8.4 In relation to the determination of who is competent to advise the Authority about the 
protection of other vulnerable persons, this Authority will consult with the Devon 
County Council Social Services Department and Mencap.

9 Interested Parties

9.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 
review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as 
follows: “For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an 

Page 40



9

application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing 
Authority which issues the licence or to which the applications is made, the person-

       a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities,

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”

9.2 The Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply 
in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person 
is an interested party.

9.3 Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a rigid rule to 
its decision making.  It will consider the examples of considerations provided in the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities. The following factors will be 
taken into account:

 the size of the premises;
 the nature of the premises;
 the distance of the premises from the location of the person making the 

representation;
 the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes likely to be 

taken by those visiting the establishment);
 the circumstances of the person who lives close to the premises. This is not 

their personal characteristics, but their interests which may be relevant to the 
distance from the premises. For example, it would be reasonable for an 
authority to conclude that ‘sufficiently close to be likely to be affected’ could 
have a different meaning for (a) a private resident; (b) a residential school for 
children with truanting problems; and (c) residential hostel for vulnerable 
adults; 

 the ‘catchment’ area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit);
 whether the person making the representation has business interests in that 

catchment area that might be affected.

This list is not exhaustive and other factors may be taken into consideration in an 
individual case.

9.4 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as councillors 
and MP’s.  No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will 
be required as long as the councillor / MP represents the ward likely to be affected.  
Likewise, parish councils likely to be affected, will be considered to be interested 
parties.  Other than these, however, this authority will generally require written 
evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who 
either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities and/or has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities.  A letter from one of these persons, requesting the representation is 
sufficient.

If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their views then care 
should be taken that the councillors are not part of the Licensing Committee dealing with 
the licence application.  If there are any doubts then please contact the licensing 
department: South Hams District Council, Follaton House, Plymouth Road, Totnes, TQ9 
5NE. Tel: 01803 861234 or email:- licensing@swdevon.gov.uk  

Page 41

mailto:licensing@swdevon.gov.uk


10

10 Exchange of Information

10.1 The principle that this Licensing Authority applies is that it will act in accordance with 
the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information, including the 
provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) will not be contravened.  The Licensing Authority will also have 
regard to any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission on this matter, as well 
as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers 
provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

11   Enforcement 

11.1 This Licensing Authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities and in line with the Regulatory 
Compliance Code; its own departmental Enforcement Policy and any Primary 
Authority partnership that may be in place.

11.2 This Licensing Authority’s principles are that enforcement should be:
 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  remedies 

should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;
 Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to 

public scrutiny;
 Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;
 Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 

friendly;  and
 Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side 

effects. 

11.3 In line with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities this Licensing 
Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 
possible.  

11.4 This Licensing Authority has adopted and implemented a risk-based inspection 
programme, based on:

 The licensing objectives
 Relevant codes of practice
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission
 The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy
 Intelligence or complaints received

11.5 The Licensing Authority will take account of the Gambling Commissions’ guidance 
document issued in February 2015 (or subsequent amendments) ‘Approach to Test 
Purchasing’ when considering making test purchases at gambling premises. 

11.6 Council officers will use the LLEP Local Authority Assessment Templates as a basis 
when conducting inspections at gambling premises. More information is available on 
the  Gambling Commission website..

11.7 Whilst this authority has not currently adopted any primary authority agreements with 
the local businesses in respect of gambling activity, a number of councils have now 
signed primary authority agreements with some of the largest gambling operators 
covering the issue of age verification. Where such arrangements are in place the 
Licensing Authority will have regard to the plan agreed between the company and 

Page 42

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/guide/test-purchasing-and-age-verification-toolkit
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/guide/test-purchasing-and-age-verification-toolkit
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/guide/premises-assessments-toolkit


11

primary authority in developing their own programmes of activity and inspection. It is 
acknowledged that any primary authority relationship will provide a useful mechanism 
to feedback general concerns about a particular operator, as the primary authority 
will have regular contact at senior levels with the operator.

The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in terms of the Act 
is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other permissions which it 
authorises.  The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for the operating and 
personal licences.  It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or 
repair of gaming machines are not dealt with by this Licensing Authority but should be 
notified to the Gambling Commission.  

This Licensing Authority also keeps itself informed of developments as regards the work of 
the Better Regulation Executive (BEIS - Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy) in its consideration of the regulatory functions of local authorities.

Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, this Licensing Authority’s 
enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon request to 
the licensing department at South Hams District Council.   Our risk methodology will also 
be available upon request.

12 Licensing Authority functions

12.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:
 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take place 

by issuing Premises Licences 
 Issue Provisional Statements 
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake certain 

gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine Permits 
 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs 
 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed Family 

Entertainment Centres 
 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) 

for the use of two or fewer gaming machines 
 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to sell/supply 

alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, 
where there are more than two machines 

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 
 Issue Prize Gaming Permits 
 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices 
 Receive Occasional Use Notices 
 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences issued 

(see section above on ‘information exchange’)
 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions

This Licensing Authority will not be involved in licensing remote gambling. That is the 
responsibility of the Gambling Commission via Operator Licences. The National Lottery is 
regulated by the National Lottery Commission and Online (Remote) Gambling is dealt with 
by the Gambling Commission.

Page 43



12

13 The Licensing Process

13.1 A Licensing Committee, a Sub-Committee, or the Licensing Manager acting under 
delegated authority may carry out the powers of the authority under the Gambling 
Act.

13.2 Many of the licensing procedures are largely administrative in nature. In the interests 
of efficiency, non-contentious procedures are carried out by licensing officers.

13.3 The Licensing Authority ensures that all Licensing Officers and Members of the 
Licensing Committee have received adequate training for their role under the 
Gambling Act.

13.4 Where admissible and relevant representations are received in relation to an 
application for a premises licence, or in relation to the review of a premises licence, a 
Sub-Committee is delegated to hear the matter.

13.5 A table showing a summary of the recommended delegation for decisions made 
under the Gambling Act 2005 is in Appendix B. 

13.6 Applicants for premises licences are required to copy their applications in full to the 
responsible authorities as listed in Appendix A.

14 General Principles where Gaming Machines are provided

14.1 Gaming machines may only be provided where an appropriate licence or permit has 
been granted. There are different categories of machine which determine the stakes 
and prizes, further details on the categories and entitlements can be found on the 
Gambling Commission’s website.

14.2 Where gaming machines are provided, we would expect the following principles to be 
applied:-

- The number and category of machines must adhere to the restrictions under the 
relevant licence or permit at that location. This will vary depending upon the 
authorisation that has been granted.

- The classification (e.g. category C) must be clearly displayed on each machine.
- Gaming machines must be located in areas with good visibility, such that members of 

staff are able to monitor their use effectively. The need for appropriate supervision of 
gambling facilities is included in the Licence Conditions and Code of Practice (LCCP)

- The location of gaming machines must be marked on a scale plan accompanying the 
application. You must be able to show how you have considered the risk to the 
licensing objectives and provide information on the controls that will be put in place, 
before introducing or re-locating gaming machines.

- It may be necessary to apply for a premises licence variation if the layout of the 
premises and/or location of gaming machines changes. For the majority of gaming 
machine re-location requests a full premises licence variation application would not 
be required, but it would be expected that the licence holder would discuss their 
plans with the Licensing Authority prior to the changes being made. However, where 
the Licensing Authority has concerns about the re-location of gaming machines, a 
variation application would be deemed appropriate to allow consultation with all the 
responsible authorities.

- A premises licence variation application will be required if intending to include privacy 
screens or pods around a gaming machine in licensed premises.

Page 44

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/licensees-and-businesses/guide/gaming-machine-categories


13

- A copy of the updated local risk assessment must also be included within the 
application to evidence that any risks presented have been recognised and mitigated.

15 Children and Vulnerable Persons

15.1 To achieve the licensing objective of “protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling”, the Licensing Authority 
expects all gambling licensed premises and premises with gambling permits to have 
policies in place to help safeguard children and vulnerable adults.

15.2 The Licensing Authority is working together with other agencies to help tackle issues 
surrounding safeguarding, particularly child sexual exploitation and trafficking. 
Further information for operators and their employees on the types of issues to be 
aware of and good practice in relation to safeguarding is at Appendix C.

15.3 Sometimes it is not easy to identify who the most vulnerable persons being harmed 
or exploited by gambling are. The Gambling Commission are raising awareness of 
the need for agencies to work together to help those that are most affected by 
problem gambling to hopefully reduce the negative impact. 

15.4 Work carried out by Public Health authorities nationally has shown significant links 
between problem gambling and other issues, such as alcohol addiction, cigarette 
addiction, homelessness and other mental health illnesses. In addition, research 
shows that there are certain groups who are likely to be more vulnerable to gambling 
harm6. Amongst the groups where the evidence base for vulnerability is strongest 
are the following:

 Ethnic groups
 Youth
 Low IQ
 Substance abuse/misuse
 Poor mental health

15.5 This Licensing Authority recognises the importance of the input of Public Health 
when developing their Statement of Licensing Principles and would welcome 
feedback from these agencies. The Licensing Authority will be seeking advice and 
evidence from the Public Health authority when developing its local area profile.

15.6 Gambling is a legitimate leisure activity enjoyed by many and the majority of those 
who gamble appear to do so with enjoyment, and without exhibiting any signs of 
problematic behaviour. Currently 0.7% of the population are problem gamblers. While 
this may seem like a low figure, gambling related harm can have a severe negative 
impact on the individual involved, the impact of problem gambling also extends 
beyond individual gamblers themselves. A recent investigation published by Citizens 
Advice reported research suggesting that for every problem gambler there are on 
average between six to ten additional people who are directly affected by it7. The 
potential impact can extend from those closed to the problem gambler (such as 
families and colleagues), whose physical, mental and emotional health and wellbeing 
may be severely affected, and in some cases impact across local communities (for 
example, where problem gambling is associated with crime or homelessness) and 
society as a whole (in terms of the costs that may be created by problem gambling). 

6 Gambling Commission - Gambling-related harm as a public health issue: Briefing paper for Local Authorities and local Public 
Health providers February 2018
7 Local Government Association and Public Health England – Tackling gambling related harm: A whole council approach, July 
2018: https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/tackling-gambling-related-harm-whole-council-approach 

Page 45

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/tackling-gambling-related-harm-whole-council-approach


14

15.7 Due to the wide-ranging and potentially damaging impact of problem gambling, it is 
vital that gambling operators have robust policies in place for identifying and 
protecting children and vulnerable persons from gambling related harm and 
exploitation. See Part B section 13.1 for further information on the Licensing 
Authority’s expectations of local risk assessments. This Licensing Authority 
encourages operators to have information and links to appropriate accredited 
agencies for help and support available to customers, such as the National Gambling 
Helpline (0808 8020 133) and GamCare. Further information is also available on the 
GambleAware website: www.begambleaware.org .

Page 46

http://www.begambleaware.org/


15

Part B - Premises Licences

1 General Principles 

1.1 Premises Licences will be subject to the requirements set-out in the Gambling Act 
2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions which are 
detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  Licensing authorities are 
able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed to be 
appropriate.

1.2 This Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it 
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it:
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in accordance with the authority’s Statement of Principles.

1.3 It is appreciated that as per the Gambling Commission's Guidance for local authorities 
"moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for premises 
licences" (except as regards any 'no casino resolution' - see section on Casinos below) 
and also that unmet demand is not a criterion for a Licensing Authority.

1.4 Definition of “premises” 

1.4.1 In the Act, "premises" is defined as including "any place".  Section 152 therefore 
prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place.  But a single building 
could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different 
parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably regarded 
as being different premises.  This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit 
premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete 
premises licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  However, licensing 
authorities should pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a 
single building or plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access 
between premises are observed.

1.4.2 The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance at paragraphs 7.6 and 7.7 that: “In 
most cases the expectation is that a single building / plot will be the subject of an 
application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street.  But, that does not mean 32 High 
Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for the basement and 
ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether different parts of a building 
can properly be regarded as being separate premises will depend on the 
circumstances.  The location of the premises will clearly be an important consideration 
and the suitability of the division is likely to be a matter for discussion between the 
operator and the licensing authority. 
The Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially or 
temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be 
regarded as different premises. If a premises is located within a wider venue, a 
licensing authority should request a plan of the venue on which the premises should 
be identified as a separate unit”

1.4.3 This Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Guidance which states at 
paragraph 7.26 that: “licensing authorities should take particular care in considering 
applications for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of 

Page 47



16

a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.”  In particular the Licensing 
Authority will be aware of the following:

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by 
gambling. In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in 
gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling. 
Therefore premises should be configured so that children are not invited to 
participate in, have accidental access to, or be able to closely observe gambling 
where they are prohibited from participating. 

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different 
premises is not compromised and people do not “drift” into a gambling area. In this 
context it should be possible to access the premises without going through another 
licensed premises or premises with a permit.

 In respect of separation of premises, as a minimum, this authority would expect 
tangible and evident means of separation, such as one or more of the following 
measures:

- Wall(s)
- Door(s)
- Screen(s)
- PIR alarms   

 In addition, this authority would expect signage to be clearly displayed to show the 
separation of the premises. A rope or moveable line is not an acceptable means 
of separation. 
The form of separation used must be made clear on the relevant plan. It is 
preferable that there is an area separating the premises concerned, which the 
public may go to for purposes other than gambling, such as a café or street.

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises 
licence, for example, bingo must be available at a licensed bingo premises.

1.4.4 Applications to place two licensed premises in one premises with an unlicensed area 
separating them (see Figure 1) will not meet this Policy because of the artificial nature 
of the premises, leading to access and use issues.

Figure 1.

 

Page 48



17

1.4.5 It is possible to have an unlicensed foyer area which separates one licensed premises 
from another if the foyer is accessed from the street (see Figure 2). The Licensing 
Authority would expect as a minimum that the area should be used for non-gaming 
purposes, such as an information point, a coffee shop or similar, but must not contain 
any gambling information or literature promoting gambling activities. The size of the 
unlicensed area is a matter for each application, but the Licensing Authority will not 
consider this configuration if the foyer is not of sufficient size to be a useable space.

Figure 2.

1.4.6 It may also be acceptable if a premises is separated by another non-licensed premises 
that has access to both licensed premises from it. An example of this could be in the 
form of a coffee shop which has a main entrance to the street. The coffee shop may 
have access to an Adult Gaming Centre on one side and an entrance to a Family 
Entertainment Centre on the other side (see Figure 3). Where a member of the public 
not using the gambling premises is likely to use the coffee shop, it may be considered 
that there is no direct access between the two licensed premises.

Page 49



18

Figure 3.

1.4.7 The provisions of this revised Statement of Principles 2022 comes into force on 31 
January 2022. From this date, any new application for any type of Gambling Premises 
Licence will be expected to fully comply with the terms and conditions as set out above. 
Existing licensed premises may continue to operate under the terms that have been 
granted by virtue of the licence that they currently hold, provided that the licensing 
objectives continue to be fully promoted at all times. However, any application to vary 
the licence will be subject to the full terms as outlined above.

1.4.8 The Guidance also gives a list of factors which this Licensing Authority should be aware 
of, which may include:

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?
 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or someone 

else?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises?
 Has a risk assessment identified and adequately controlled risks?

This Licensing Authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case. 

1.4.9 The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type are 
reproduced below: 

Type of premises Access provisions
Casinos • the principal access entrance to the premises must be from 

a ‘street’. 
• no entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used 
wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons 
• no customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any 
other premises which holds a gambling premises licence.

Page 50



19

Type of premises Access provisions
Adult Gaming Centre • no customer must be able to access the premises directly 

from any other licensed gambling premises or one that is 
subject to a permit (e.g. uFEC).

Betting Shops • access must be from a street or from another premises with 
a betting premises licence
• no direct access from a betting shop to another premises 
used for the retail sale of merchandise or services. In effect 
there cannot be an entrance to a betting shop from a shop of 
any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the back of 
a café – the whole area would have to be licensed.

Tracks • no customer should be able to access the premises directly 
from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises • no customer must be able to access the premises directly 
from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment 
Centre

• No customer must be able to access the premises directly 
from:
-  a casino
-  an adult gaming centre
-  betting premises, other than a track

1.4.10Part 7 of the Guidance contains further guidance on this issue, which this Licensing 
Authority will also take into account in its decision-making.

1.5 Premises “ready for gambling”

1.5.1 At section 7.58 of the Guidance it states that a licence to use premises for gambling 
should only be issued in relation to premises that this Licensing Authority can be 
satisfied are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the premises are 
brought into use. 

1.5.2 If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the 
applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional 
statement should be made instead. 

1.5.3 In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding 
construction or alteration works at a premises, this Licensing Authority will determine 
applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process:-

 First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling 
 Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be 
before gambling takes place.

1.5.4 Applicants should note that this Licensing Authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such 
a licence. 

Page 51



20

1.5.5 More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be 
granted can be found in the Guidance.

 
1.6 Location

1.6.1 This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with 
regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing 
objectives can.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities, this 
authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and 
disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where 
gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be updated.  It should be 
noted that any such policy does not preclude any application being made and each 
application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how 
potential concerns can be overcome. It is expected that issues relating to the location 
of a gambling premises will be addressed in the relevant local risk assessment. See 
section 1.13 for more information on our expectations for local risk assessments..

1.6.2 Where gambling premises are located in sensitive areas, e.g. near schools, this 
Licensing Authority will consider imposing restrictions on advertising gambling facilities 
on such premises where it is felt relevant and reasonably consistent with the Licensing 
Objectives.

1.7 Relationship with Other Authorities

1.7.1  The Licensing Authority is aware of the potential overlap with planning and 
building regulations, as well as with fire and health and safety regulations. In 
determining applications, only relevant matters will be taken into consideration. One 
example of an irrelevant matter would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining 
planning permission or building regulations approval for their proposal. Further 
information is at sections 7.58 to 7.65 of the Guidance. 

1.7.2 This Licensing Authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as per the 
Guidance. In addition this Licensing Authority notes the following excerpt from section 
7.65 of the Guidance: 

“When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the Licensing 
Authority should not take into account whether those buildings have or comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents. Nor should fire or health and safety risks be 
taken into account.  Those matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control 
and building regulation powers, and not form part of the consideration for the premises 
licence.  Section 210 of the Act prevents licensing authorities taking into account the 
likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or building consent when 
considering a premises licence application.  Equally the grant of a gambling premises 
licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be appropriate under the law 
relating to planning or building.”

1.8 Licensing objectives 

1.8.1 Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives.  With regard to these objectives, this Licensing Authority has considered 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities and some comments are 
made below.

Page 52



21

1.8.1 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime - This Licensing Authority is 
aware that the Gambling Commission will be taking a leading role in preventing 
gambling from being a source of crime.  The Gambling Commission's Guidance does 
however envisage that licensing authorities should pay attention to the proposed 
location of gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective.  Where an area has 
known high levels of organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether 
gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions may be 
suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This Licensing Authority is aware 
of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will consider factors such as 
whether police assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to 
those who could see it, so as to make that distinction.  Issues of nuisance cannot be 
addressed via the Gambling Act provisions.

1.8.2 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way - This Licensing 
Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it generally does not 
expect licensing authorities to be concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via operating and 
personal licences. However, this does not preclude this being considered during 
periodic inspections at the premises. There is more of a role with regard to tracks 
which is explained in more detail in the tracks section later.

1.8.3 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling - This Licensing Authority has noted the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance for local authorities states that this objective means 
preventing children from taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so 
that gambling products are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to children).  The 
Licensing Authority will therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance, whether specific measures are required at particular 
premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may include 
supervision of entrances / machines, segregation of areas etc. 

1.8.4 The Licensing Authority notes the Gambling Commission Codes of Practice as 
regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises. 

1.8.5 Regarding the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling Commission is 
not seeking to offer a definition but states that “it will for regulatory purposes assume 
that this group includes people who gamble more than they want to; people who 
gamble beyond their means and people who may not be able to make informed or 
balanced decisions about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.”  
This Licensing Authority will consider this licensing objective on a case by case 
basis.  

1.8.6 Where physical barriers are required to separate activities due to age restrictions, the 
applicant must provide sufficient information with regards to the height, transparency 
and materials to be used. The Licensing Authority will require barriers to be designed 
and constructed to prevent inadvertent access and viewing of restricted areas. 
Adequate supervision within these areas must also be maintained.

1.8.7 The Licensing Authority expects all operators to have a safeguarding policy in 
relation to children and vulnerable adults. All staff will be expected to undertake 
training regarding:

 Vulnerability risk factors
 How to identify safeguarding issues

Page 53

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/codes-of-practice/3


22

 How to report and record concerns

1.8.8 Further information for operators and their employees on the types of issues to be 
aware of and good practice in relation to safeguarding is at Appendix C.

1.9 Conditions 

1.9.1 In most cases the mandatory and default conditions are sufficient to ensure operation 
that is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives. Additional conditions will 
only be considered where there is clear evidence of a risk to the licensing objectives. 

1.9.2 Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:
 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility
 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and
 reasonable in all other respects. 

1.9.3 Decisions about  individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although 
there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority will consider using should 
there be a perceived need, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate signage for 
adult only areas etc.  There are specific comments made in this regard under some of 
the licence types below.  This Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant 
to offer his/her own suggestions as to way in which the licensing objectives can be met 
effectively.

1.9.4 This Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be needed for 
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures may include 
the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas 
frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling 
specific premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives.  These matters are in 
accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance.

1.9.5 This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on offer 
in premises to which children are admitted:
 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from 

the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;
 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 

by the staff or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed 

notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable, for example, entertainment halls on holiday parks

1.9.6 This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this Licensing Authority will consider the impact 
upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type 
of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they 
are not permitted to enter.

Page 54



23

1.9.7 It is noted that there are conditions which the Licensing Authority cannot attach to 
premises licences. There are:
 conditions on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an 

operating licence condition; 
 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 

operation;
 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 

Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs) and this provision prevents it being reinstated; and

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

1.10 Door Supervisors 

1.10.1 The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance that if a Licensing Authority is 
concerned that a premises may attract disorder or be subject to attempts at 
unauthorised access (for example by children and young persons) then it may require 
that the entrances to the premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled 
to impose a premises licence to this effect. 

1.10.2 Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for particular 
cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or not will be 
necessary.  It will not be automatically assumed that they need to be licensed, as the 
statutory requirements for different types of premises vary (as per the Guidance, Part 
33).

1.11 Appropriate Licensing Environment

1.11.1 The Guidance to Local Authorities and the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 
(LCCP), set out additional matters that the Council should take into account when 
considering licence applications for premises licences.

1.11.2 The Council will consider any application based on the provisions in these codes and 
guidance. Where gaming machines are made available for use in licensed gambling 
premises, they should only be available when sufficient facilities are made available 
for the primary gambling activity (e.g. bingo, betting etc.).

1.11.3 Where gambling facilities are provided at premises as a supplementary activity to the 
main purpose of the premises, e.g. motorway service areas and shopping malls, the 
Council will expect the gambling area to be clearly defined on the plans submitted to 
ensure that customers are fully aware that they are making a choice to enter into the 
gambling premises, and that the premises is adequately supervised at all times.

1.12 Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice

1.12.1 Section 7 of the Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authorities sets out 
considerations that an operator must make in order to protect children and young 
people from accessing gambling premises.

1.12.2 The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) prescribe how operators must 
prevent children from using age restricted gaming or gambling activities, particularly 
where gaming machines are licensed.

1.12.3 In particular, operators must ensure that:
 all staff are trained

Page 55



24

 that all customers are supervised when on gambling premises
 must have procedures for identifying customers who are at risk of gambling 

related harm

1.12.4 The Council will expect all operators to have policies and procedures in place as 
required by the LCCP codes on social responsibility to cover all aspects of the code, 
in particular staff training records and self-exclusion records.

1.12.5 Further provision with regard to self-exclusion and marketing are included in the social 
responsibility code. The Council will take all conditions and codes into account when 
considering applications or performing enforcement activities.

1.13 Local Risk Assessments

1.13.1 Since April 2016, the Gambling Commission’s Social Responsibility Code 10.1.1 has 
required licensees to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures 
and control measures to mitigate those risks. The Social Responsibility Code provision 
is supplemented by the LCCP: Ordinary Code 10.1.2 and requires licensees to share 
risk assessments with the Licensing Authority when applying for a premises licence or 
applying for a variation to existing licensed premises or otherwise on request of the 
Licensing Authority.  In undertaking their risk assessments, licensees should take into 
account any relevant matters identified in this policy statement and any associated 
local area profile produced by this Licensing Authority (not currently available). 

1.13.2 Operators are required to carry out a local risk assessment when applying for a new 
licence. They must then review (and update as necessary) their local risk 
assessments:
 Annually
 When applying for a variation of a premises licence.
 To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 

identified in this policy.
 When there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect the 

level of risk or the mitigation of those risks. This includes changes to the interior 
layout of the premises, including re-location of gaming machines or introduction of 
privacy screens. In these circumstances a premises licence variation may also be 
necessary.

1.13.3 The above Social Responsibility Code provision is supplemented by an Ordinary Code 
that will require licensees to share their risk assessments with the Licensing Authority 
when applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed 
premises or otherwise on request of the Council. The risk assessment must be updated 
annually (or more frequently if appropriate). It must be kept on the premises to which 
it relates and be available for inspection by an authorised officer of the Licensing 
Authority or Gambling Commission.

1.13.4 While there are no plans to request that licensed premises share their risk 
assessments on a periodic basis, where concerns do exist, perhaps prompted by new 
or existing risks, the Licensing Authority is likely to request that a licensee share a copy 
of its risk assessment. The risk assessment will set out the measures the licensee has 
put in place to address specific concerns, thereby potentially reducing the occasions 
on which a premises review and the imposition of licence conditions is required.  

Page 56



25

Where premises consist of both an Adult Gaming Centre (AGC) and an unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centre (uFEC), the Licensing Authority will expect the local risk 
assessment to be completed for the whole premises, not just the area under the AGC 
licence.

1.13.5 When comprising their risk assessments operators should consider:
 The risks posed to the licensing objectives by the provision of gambling facilities at 

each of their premises in the local authority area.
 Reference to any specific local risks 
 How the operator proposes to mitigate these risks.
 How the operator will monitor specific risks.

1.13.6 Although not forming an exhaustive list, the following factors are ones which operators 
may wish to consider when comprising and reviewing their risk assessments:
 The geographical location of the premises and socio-economic makeup of the 

area. 
 The type and usage of the premises.
 The layout and size of the premises, e.g. access and egress, position of counters 

and gaming machines, lines of sight between counters and entrance points and 
machines, the physical structure of the premises, presence of any visual obstacles. 
Particular consideration should be given to the proximity of gaming machines to 
the entrance to the premises.

 Specific types of gambling premises in the local area (e.g. seaside resorts typically 
have more arcades or FECs) and their density.

 Whether there are any facilities for sharing information between premises, in 
particular relating to safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults and preventing 
anti-social behaviour.

 The opening hours of the premises and the possible interaction of the gambling 
premises with any surrounding night time economy.

 Client demographics, the presence of children and vulnerable adults.
 Staff numbers, with particular regard to staffing levels at peak times, such as the 

summer season when the local population significantly increases.
 Staff training, including their role in the protection of children and vulnerable 

persons and the prevention and detection of crime.
 Staff roles and their engagement with other activities, including supervision of the 

premises.
 Issues of lone working and staff working closely with children.
 How the gambling facilities are presented and the risk of its appeal to children, 

including any advertising outside the premises.
 There is an expectation for premises to have specific policies in place in respect of 

safeguarding children and vulnerable adults (see part A section 15) and in respect 
of the prevention of money laundering.

1.13.7 Operators will also wish to consider the potential risk of under-age gambling and the 
increased risk of problem gambling in certain groups. This Authority will therefore 
expect operators to consider the following when undertaking their risk assessment: 
 Self-exclusion data – the number of self-exclusions and underage attempts to 

gamble. 
 The proximity of the premises to any school, centre, or establishment for the 

education, training or care of young and/or vulnerable persons.
 The proximity of the premises to leisure centres used for sporting and similar 

activities by young and/or vulnerable persons.
 The proximity to the premises to any youth club or similar establishment.

Page 57



26

 The proximity of the premises to any community, ecclesiastical, welfare, health or 
similar establishment used specifically, or to a large extent, by young and/or 
vulnerable persons.

 The proximity of any other area or location where young and/or vulnerable persons 
could congregate, such as parks, bus stops, cafes, and shops

 The proximity of any hostels or support services for vulnerable people, such as 
those with addiction issues or who are homeless, given the greater risk of problem 
gambling among these groups. 

 The proximity of residential care homes, hospitals, medical facilities, addiction 
clinics and any other place where vulnerable persons may congregate. 

 The proximity of any area where large groups of people congregate.
 The proximity of banks, cash points, post offices and other gambling outlets.

1.14 Premises Licence Plans

1.14.1 Section 151 of the Act requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with their 
application. Regulations state that the plan must show:
 The extent of the boundary or perimeter of the premises
 Where the premises include, or consist of, one or more buildings, the location of 

any external or internal walls of each such building
 Where the premises forms part of a building, the location of any external or 

internal walls of the building which are included in the premises
 Where the premises are a vessel or part of a vessel, the location of any external 

or internal walls of the building which are included in the premises
 The location of each point of entry to and exit from the premises, including in 

each case a description of the place from which entry is made or to which exit 
leads

1.14.2 In addition to the above requirements, the Licensing Authority will also expect the 
plan to show the location of any gaming machines, as well as any customer privacy 
screens or pods, to ensure that the areas can be adequately supervised. Staff should 
be in a position to monitor entrances and gaming machines. See Part A section 14 
for more information on our requirements in relation to gaming machines. The nature 
and location of any barrier or other thing separating any part of the premises where 
gaming machines will be made available for use from any other part of the premises 
should also be included on the plan.

14.3 Applicants must take the structure and layout of the premises into account when 
considering their own policies and procedures. For example, where it is not possible 
for counter staff to supervise persons using gambling facilities such as gaming 
machines, the Licensing Authority would expect applicants to volunteer conditions 
that floor walkers will be used or that counter staff will be able to clearly view all 
areas of the premises on CCTV from the counter area at all times.  

1.14.3 If plans change in any material respect during the lifetime of the licence, the applicant 
will be in breach of their licence and would either need to make a new application 
under section 159 or to seek a variation to the licence under section 187 of the Act. If 
the changes are substantial, this may, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority, 
render the premises different to those to which the licence was granted. In such 
cases, a variation would not be possible and a new application would be required.

1.14.4 Unless otherwise agreed with the Licensing Authority, the plan should be drawn to a 
standard scale with a key showing the items mentioned above.  The standard scale is 
1:100.

Page 58



27

2 Adult Gaming Centres

2.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the Licensing Authority that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.  Appropriate 
licence conditions may cover issues such as:
 CCTV
 Door supervisors
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Physical separation of areas
 Proof of age schemes
 Provision information leaflets helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare.
 Self – exclusion schemes
 Specific opening hours
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

2.2 The question of sub-division of such premises has been the subject of further Gambling 
Commission Guidance. This Licensing Authority will have regard to any relevant 
additional guidance that may be issued by the Gambling Commission in respect to 
such applications. See section 1.4.3 for more specific requirements.

2.3 There must be no direct entry from one adult gaming centre into another or any direct 
access to or from another licensed gambling premises or permitted area (e.g. uFEC). 
This Authority will have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission in respect to such applications. Where an AGC is in the same premises 
as an uFEC, the Licensing Authority will expect a Local Risk Assessment of the entire 
premises, see Part B section 1.13 for more information

2.4 This Licensing Authority recognises that the design and layout of adult gaming centres 
will vary. It will have particular regard to the siting of age restricted gaming machines 
within individual premises to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that staff 
properly monitor the use of these machines by children and young persons. This 
Licensing Authority reserves the right to request that gaming machines are re-
positioned where circumstances demonstrate that it is appropriate to do so. All 
applications for an AGC licence must be accompanied by a scale plan which includes 
the location of gaming machines.

2.5 Factors to be taken into consideration will include the following:

 CCTV;
 Re-location of the machines;
 Door buzzers;
 Remote cut-off switches;
 Training provision;
 Any other factor considered relevant.

Page 59



28

3 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres

3.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine areas.  

3.2 Children and young persons will be able to enter licensed family entertainment centres 
and play on category D machines but will not be permitted to play on category C 
machines.

3.3 As family entertainment centres will particularly appeal to children and young persons, 
weight shall be given to child protection issues. Where category C machines are 
available in licensed family entertainment centres, the Council will normally require 
that:

 All such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance (see Part B section 1.4.3);

 Only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located;
 Access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 The area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 

by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and
 At the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 

notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

3.4 Applicants are therefore encouraged to consider the steps set out at under Part C para 
1.9 of this statement in order to prevent children and young persons from gaining 
access to category C machines. In addition, applicants are encouraged to consider the 
following:

 Physical separation of areas
 Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 

children on the premises.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

3.5 As there are likely to be children present at an FEC, the Licensing Authority would 
expect robust policies in place in relation to safeguarding (see part A section 15 and 
Appendix C for more information).

3.6 All applications for an FEC licence must be accompanied by a scale plan which 
includes the location of gaming machines.

3.7 The Licensing Authority also encourage premises to sign up to the British Amusement 
Catering Trade and Associsation (BACTA) Voluntary Code and restrict under 18s from 
playing category D cash fruit machines within their venues.

Applications for Entertainment Centres (formerly known as amusement arcades) will be 
subject of particularly stringent examination by the Planning Authority. The Town Centres 
are for the most part Conservation Areas with special charter and qualities to protect. The 
Planning Authority will therefore apply rigorous criteria to its judgement of any proposal and 
will generally not be granted unless certain criteria is met. The Planning Department can be 

Page 60



29

contacted at The South Hams District Council, Follaton House, Plymouth Road, Totnes, TQ9 
5NE. Tel: 01803 861234 or email:-dm@swdevon.gov.uk 
 
4 Casinos

4.1 The Council is not currently enabled by the Secretary of State (in accordance with 
regulations made under Section 175 of the Act) to grant a premises licence for a 
casino.

5 Bingo premises

5.1 Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any 
bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. An operator may choose to 
vary their licence to exclude a previously licensed area of that premises, and then apply 
for a new premises licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the aim of creating 
separate premises in that area. Essentially providing multiple licensed premises within 
a single building or site. In these circumstances it is not permissible for all the gaming 
machines to which each of the licences brings an entitlement to be grouped together 
within one of the licensed premises.

5.2 Before issuing additional bingo premises licences, the Licensing Authority will consider 
whether bingo can be played at each of those new premises. In these cases this 
Licensing Authority will have particular regard to the Gambling Commission Guidance 
on the ‘meaning of premises’ and how it relates to the primary gambling activity. 

5.3 Under 9.1.2 of the Local Conditions and Codes of Practice, licensees must ensure that 
the function along with the internal and/or external presentation of the premises are 
such that a customer can reasonably be expected to recognise that it is a premises 
licensed for the purposes of providing bingo facilities.

5.4 Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises, however they are not 
permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are made available 
for use these must be separated from areas where children and young people are 
allowed. The Licensing Authority will normally require that:

 All such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance (see Part B section 1.4.3);

 Only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located;
 Access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 The area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 

by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and
 At the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 

notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

5.5 All applications for a Bingo Premises licence must be accompanied by a scale plan 
which includes the location of gaming machines.

6 Betting premises

6.1 Betting machines
This Licensing Authority will, as per the Guidance, take into account the size of the 
premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, 

Page 61

mailto:dm@swdevon.gov.uk


30

and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when 
considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants 
to offer.

6.2 The Licensing Authority recognises that the design and layout of betting premises (or 
any other premises including tracks) will vary so will have particular regard to the siting 
of age restricted gaming machines within each individual premises to ensure that staff 
properly prevent the use of these machines by children and young persons.  This 
Licensing Authority reserve the right to request that gaming machines are re-positioned 
where circumstances demonstrate that it is appropriate to do so. All applications for a 
Betting Premises licence must be accompanied by a scale plan which includes the 
location of gaming machines. A premises licence variation application will be required 
if intending to include privacy screens or pods around a gaming machine. See part A 
section 14 for more specific guidance on gaming machines. 

6.3 Factors to be taken into consideration will include the following:

 CCTV
 Re-location of the machines
 Door buzzers
 Remote cut-off switches
 Training provision
 Any other factor considered relevant

6.4 The Licensing Authority will expect applicants to have fully considered these issues in 
their application and risk assessments and may ask for alterations to plans where it is 
not satisfied that adequate supervision of the machines can be ensured.

7 Tracks

7.1 This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track.  As per 
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this Licensing Authority will especially consider 
the impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and the need to 
ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.

7.2 This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate 
suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming 
facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to enter track 
areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse 
racing takes place, but that they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming 
machines (other than category D machines) are provided

7.3 This Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such 
as:

 CCTV
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Physical separation of areas
 Proof of age schemes

Page 62



31

 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare

 Self-barring schemes
 Specific opening hours
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

7.4 Gaming machines

7.4.1 Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D machines) 
should be located in areas from which children are excluded. 

7.4.2 This Licensing Authority will therefore expect the applicant to demonstrate that suitable 
measures are in place to ensure that children are prevented from entering areas where 
machines (other than category D machines) are made available.

7.4.3 Some tracks will also hold an alcohol licence and as such they will be automatically 
entitled under Section 282 of the Act to two gaming machines of category C or D. This 
permission is activated by notifying the Licensing Authority and paying the required 
fee. If a track premises licence holder has both an alcohol licence and a pool betting 
operating licence, then they will be entitled to a total of six gaming machines (two via 
the alcohol licence and four via the operating licence). 

7.4.4 Applicants are advised to consult the Gambling Commission’s Guidance on where 
gaming machines may be located on tracks and any special considerations that 
should apply in relation, for example, to supervision of the machines and preventing 
children from playing them. The Council will also, in line with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance, consider the location of gaming machines at tracks.

7.5       Betting machines

7.5.1 This Licensing Authority will, per the Guidance, take into account the size of the 
premises and the ability of staff to prevent the use of the machines by children and 
young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, 
when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator 
proposes to offer.

7.5.2 On tracks where the potential space for such machines may be considerable, there 
may be significant problems in relation to the proliferation of such machines, the ability 
of track staff to supervise them if they are scattered around the track and the ability of 
the track operator to comply with the law and prevent children betting on the machines. 
In such cases, this Licensing Authority will generally consider restricting the number 
and location of betting machines, in the light of the circumstances of each application.

7.6 Applications and plans

7.6.1 The Act (s151) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with their 
application, in order to ensure that this Licensing Authority has the necessary 
information to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are fit for 
gambling. The plan will also be used for this Licensing Authority to plan future premises 
inspection activity. 

Page 63



32

7.6.2 Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to scale 
and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by regulations. 

7.6.3 Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not defined 
by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks. In such instances, 
where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders may erect temporary 
structures to restrict access to premises.

7.6.4 In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the track 
in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of sporting events 
or races. In such cases betting facilities may be better provided through occasional use 
notices where the boundary premises do not need to be defined.

7.6.5 The Licensing authority will require the following information from applicants for 
premises licences in respect of tracks:-

 Detailed plans for the racetrack itself and the area that will be used for 
temporary ‘on-course’ betting facilities (often known as the ‘betting ring’)

 In the case of dog tracks and horse racecourses, details of the fixed and mobile 
pool betting facilities operated by the Tote or track operator, as well as any 
other proposed gambling facilities.

7.6.6 Plans will need to make it clear what is being sought for authorisation under the track 
betting premises licence and what, if any, other areas are to be subject to a separate 
application for a different type of premises licence. The location of any gaming 
machines must also be clearly marked on the plan.

7.6.7 When considering applications for tracks, the Licensing Authority will take into 
consideration Part 20 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance. It is recommended 
that applicants are familiar with this information prior to submitting an application.

8 Travelling Fairs

8.1 It will fall to this Licensing Authority to decide whether, where category D machines 
and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use 
at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to 
no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met.

8.2 The Licensing Authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair.

8.3 It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a 
fair, is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are 
held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the 
land. From 28 days per year it would be regarded as "permitted development" under 
Part 4 of the Town and Country Planning Order 1995 and is thus deemed to require 
planning permission.  This Licensing Authority will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the 
statutory limits are not exceeded.

8.4 Higher stake category B and C fruit machines are not permitted. Fairground 
operators must source their machines from a Gambling Commission licensed 
supplier and employees working with gaming machines must be at least 18 years 
old.

Page 64

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/guidance/guidance-to-licensing-authorities/gla-part-20-tracks


33

9 Provisional Statements

9.1 Developers may wish to apply to this Licensing Authority for provisional statements 
before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a 
development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence. 
There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a 
provisional statement. 

9.2 Section 204 of the Act provides for a person to make an application to this Licensing 
Authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she:

- expects to be constructed;
- expects to be altered; or
- expects to acquire a right to occupy.

9.3 The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same as 
that for a premises licence application. The applicant is obliged to give notice of the 
application in the same way as applying for a premises licence. Responsible authorities 
and interested parties may make representations and there are rights of appeal. 

9.4 In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to hold or 
have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except in the 
case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in respect 
of which their provisional application is made. 

9.5 The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once the 
premises are constructed, altered or acquired. This Licensing Authority will be 
constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence 
application, and in terms of representations about premises licence applications that 
follow the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless:
 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 

statement stage, or
  they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  

9.6 In addition, this Licensing Authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on 
terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement stage; 
 which in this Licensing Authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 

circumstances; or
 where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan 

submitted with the application. This must be a substantial change to the plan and 
this Licensing Authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the 
applicant before making a decision.

9.7 Once an operator has completed a building, the Licensing Authority will be able to 
consider a premises licence application for it. Requiring the building to be complete 
ensures that the authority can inspect it fully, as can other responsible authorities 
with inspection rights under Part 15 of the Act. 

Page 65



34

10 Reviews

10.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or 
responsible authorities, however, it is for the Licensing Authority to decide whether the 
review is to be carried-out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the 
review is relevant to the matters listed below

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 in accordance with the authority’s Statement of Principles.

10.2 The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by this Licensing 
Authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will certainly 
not cause this Licensing Authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or 
whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review.

10.3 This Licensing Authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or 
a particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason which it thinks is 
appropriate.

10.4 Once a valid application for a review has been received by this Licensing Authority, 
representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested parties during 
a 28 day period. This period begins 7 days after the application was received by this 
Licensing Authority, who will publish notice of the application within 7 days of receipt. 

10.5 This Licensing Authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 28 day 
period for making representations has passed. 

10.6 The purpose of the review will be to determine whether this Licensing Authority should 
take any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options open to this 
Licensing Authority are:- 

(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by this Licensing Authority;
(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. opening 

hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion;
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; and
(d) revoke the premises licence.

10.7 In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, this Licensing 
Authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act, as well 
as any relevant representations.

10.8 In particular, this Licensing Authority may also initiate a review of a premises licence 
on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling 
at the premises. This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a speculative 
manner without intending to use them.

10.9 Once the review has been completed, this Licensing Authority must, as soon as 
possible, notify its decision to:

- the licence holder
- the applicant for review (if any)

Page 66



35

- the Commission
- any person who made representations
- the chief officer of police or chief constable; and
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

Page 67



36

Part C - Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice

1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre 

1.1 The term ‘unlicensed family entertainment centre’ is one defined in the Act and refers 
to a premises which provides category D gaming machines along with various other 
amusements such as computer games and penny-pushers.  The premises is 
‘unlicensed’ in that it does not require a premises licence but does require a permit to 
be able to provide its category D gaming machines.  It should not be confused with a 
‘licensed family entertainment centre’ which does require a premises licence because 
it contains both category C and D gaming machines.

1.2 Unlicensed family entertainment centres (uFECs) will be most commonly located at 
seaside resorts, in airports and at motorway style service centres, and will cater for 
families, including unaccompanied children and young persons. 

1.3 Where a premises does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide gaming 
machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for this permit.  It is a requirement 
that the area covered by the permit must be wholly or mainly used for making gaming 
machines available for use (Section 238 Gambling Act 2005). Therefore, it will not be 
possible to grant a permit for an entire shopping centre or service station, for example. 
Where gambling facilities are provided as a supplementary activity to the main purpose 
of the premises, customers must be fully aware that they are making a choice to enter 
the area covered by the permit and adequate supervision must be provided at all times. 
No changes should be made to the layout or location of machines without submitting 
an updated plan to the Licensing Authority, see section 1.9.1 below for more 
information on plan requirements

1.4 The Licensing Authority will only grant a uFEC gaming machine permit where it is 
satisfied that the premises will be operated as a bona fide unlicensed family 
entertainment centre.

1.5 In line with the Act, while the Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type 
of permit, the Licensing Authority can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that 
the issues raised in this “Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the 
application. 

1.6 When determining the suitability of an applicant for a permit and when considering 
applications, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance and although not required to, will have regard to the licensing objectives.  

1.7 Gambling Commission Guidance states: “...An application for a permit may be granted 
only if the Licensing Authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an 
unlicensed FEC, and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the 
application...” This Licensing Authority will require the applicant to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs;

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 
7 of the Act); and

 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and 
prizes. 

Page 68



37

1.8 Statement of Principles

1.8.1 This Licensing Authority has adopted a Statement of Principles in accordance with 
Paragraph 7 of Schedule 10 of the Act and they are for the purposes of clarifying the 
measures that the council will expect applicants to demonstrate when applying for a 
permit for an unlicensed family entertainment centre.  This will allow the Licensing 
Authority to better determine the suitability of the applicant and the premises for a 
permit.

1.8.2 Within this process the Licensing Authority will aim to grant the permit where the 
applicant is able to demonstrate that:
 they are a fit and proper person to hold the permit
 they have considered and are proposing suitable measures to promote

the licensing objectives, and
 they have a legal right to occupy the premises to which the permit is sought.

1.8.3 The measures suggested in this document should be read as guidance only and the 
council will be happy for applicants to suggest measures above and beyond those 
listed in the document and or to substitute measures as appropriate.

1.9 Supporting documents

1.9.1 The Licensing Authority will require the following supporting documents to be served 
with all uFEC gaming machine permit applications:

 proof of age (a certified copy or sight of an original birth certificate, a photo style 
driving licence, or passport – all applicants for these permits must be aged 18 or 
over)

 proof that the applicant has the right to occupy the premises.  Acceptable 
evidence would be a copy of any lease, a copy of the property’s deeds or a similar 
document

 the result of a criminal records basic disclosure [criminal conviction certificate] 
(the disclosure must have been issued within the previous month).  This will be 
used to check that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set 
out in Schedule 7 of the Act.) – Basic Disclosures can be obtained from the 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). Further information is available on their 
website: www.gov.uk/government/publications/basic-checks.

 Where an applicant is a company or organisation and does not hold an Operating 
Licence, then the proposed Manager responsible for the day to day running of 
the premises will be required to produce a criminal record disclosure check dated 
within one calendar month of the date of the application being submitted to the 
Licensing Authority.

 When a permit holder appoints a new manager responsible for the day to day 
running of the premises, that person will be required to produce a criminal record 
disclosure check dated within one calendar month of the appointment date.

 In the case of applications for an uFEC gaming machine permit evidence that the 
machines to be provided are or were supplied by a legitimate gambling machine 
supplier or manufacturer who holds a valid gaming machine technical operating 
licence issued by the Gambling Commission

 A plan of the premises for which the permit is sought showing the following items: 
(i) the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances 

and exits to the building and any internal doorways 
(ii) where any category D gaming machines are positioned and the particular 

type of machines to be provided (e.g. slot machines, penny-falls, cranes)

Page 69

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/basic-checks


38

(iii) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the 
premises

(iv) the location of any fixed or semi-fixed counters, booths or offices on the 
premises whereby staff monitor the customer floor area

(v) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines
(vi) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns or pillars
(vii) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs, 

elevators, balconies or lifts in the premises
(viii) the location of any public toilets in the building 

 Where an uFEC is in the same premises as an AGC, the Licensing Authority will 
expect a Local Risk Assessment of the entire premises, see Part B section 1.13 
for more information.

Unless otherwise agreed with the Licensing Authority, the plan should be drawn to a 
standard scale with a key showing the items mentioned above.  The standard scale is 
1:100.

1.10 Child protection issues

1.10.1 As these premises particularly appeal to children and young persons, the Licensing 
Authority will give weight to child protection issues. It will expect applicants to 
demonstrate that they and their staff have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes. 

1.10.2 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 
procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited 
to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations, including 
safeguarding and child sexual exploitation.  Further information on these types of 
issues and the Licensing Authority’s expectations is at Appendix C.

1.10.3 The Licensing Authority will assess these policies and procedures on their merits, and 
they should (depending on the particular permit being applied for) include appropriate 
measures / training for staff relating to the following:

 maintain contact details for any local schools and /or the education authority so 
that any truant children can be reported

 employ policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may 
attempt to gain access to the premises and gamble when they should be at 
school

 employ policies to address any problems that may arise during seasonal periods 
where children may frequent the premises in greater numbers, such as half terms 
and summer holidays

 maintain information at the premises of the term times of any local schools in the 
vicinity of the premises and also consider policies to ensure sufficient staffing 
levels during these times

 display posters displaying the ‘Child Line’ (or equivalent) phone number in 
discreet locations on the premises e.g. toilets

 maintain an incident register of any problems that arise on the premises related 
to children such as children gambling excessively, truant children, children being 
unruly or young unaccompanied children entering the premises.  (The register 
should be used to detect any trends which require attention by the management 
of the premises.)

 ensure all young children are accompanied by a responsible adult.
 maintain policies to deal with any young children who enter the premises 

unaccompanied

Page 70



39

 the provision of satisfactory basic disclosure checks (criminal records checks) for 
all staff who will be working closely with children.

 training relating to child safeguarding issues.
 designate at least one member of staff/management to take a lead on issues 

relating to safeguarding children and vulnerable people as a ‘safeguarding co-
ordinator’.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

1.10.4 Staff should be clearly identifiable so that customers, including children, can easily 
identify them for assistance, guidance or gambling advice.

1.10.5 The Licensing Authority also encourage premises to sign up to the British Amusement 
Catering Trade and Associsation (BACTA) Voluntary Code and restrict under 18s from 
playing category D cash fruit machines within their venues.

1.11 Protection of Vulnerable Persons Issues

1.11.1 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 
procedures in place to protect vulnerable persons.  Applicants should refer to the 
section in the council’s ‘Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005’ 
to familiarise themselves with who the council considers vulnerable.  The Licensing 
Authority will assess these policies and procedures on their merits, however, they may 
(depending on the particular permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / 
training for staff relating to the following:
 display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines
 display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises
 training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to 

maintain a sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are 
gambling, as part of measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable

 consider appropriate positioning of ATM and change machines (including the 
display of Gamcare stickers on any such machines)

 Customer self-exclusion systems (for example where the uFEC is adjacent to an 
AGC)

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

1.12 Other miscellaneous issues

1.12.1 The applicant should also be mindful of the following possible control measures 
(depending on the particular permit being applied for) to minimise crime and disorder 
and the possibility of public nuisance:
 maintain an effective CCTV system to monitor the interior and exterior of the 

premises
 keep the exterior of the premises clean and tidy
 ensure that external lighting is suitably positioned and operated so as not to 

cause nuisance to neighbouring or adjoining premises
 consider the design and layout of the outside of the premises to deter the 

congregation of children and youths.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

Page 71



40

1.12.2 The Licensing Authority encourages applicants for UFEC Permits to consider adopting 
BACTA’s voluntary Code of Practice for Amusement with Prizes Machines in Family 
Entertainment Centres. This Code of Practice promotes awareness of social 
responsibility, and acknowledges that proactive specific and appropriate commitment 
will be given to educating children and young persons, thereby minimising the potential 
for harm.

Permits cannot be issued to vessels or vehicles.

The position of premises holding an alcohol licence is dealt with below.

Applicants for Permits for Adult or Family Entertainment Centres (licensed or unlicensed) 
(formerly known as ‘Amusement Arcades’) are advised to speak to the Planning Department 
of this Council before making a formal application to the Licensing Authority. 

2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits –   
(Schedule 13 Para 4(1))

2.1 Automatic Entitlement for up to two machines 
There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on 
the premises, to automatically have two gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  
The premises merely need to notify the Licensing Authority.  The Licensing Authority 
can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular premises if:
 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 

licensing objectives;
 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 

of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the Licensing 
Authority, that a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice 
issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the 
machine has been complied with) 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

2.2 Although not a legal requirement, this Licensing Authority request that a plan 
showing the intended location and type of gaming machines is provided with the 
notification. This plan may take the form of an amendment to the plan attached to the 
Premises Licence issued under Licensing Act 2003. The applicant must ensure there 
are adequate measures in place to prevent children from accessing the Category C 
machines and good supervision in the area in which they are located.

2.3 The Licensing Authority expect businesses to comply with the Gambling Commission 
Code of Practice for ‘Gaming machines in clubs and premises with an alcohol 
licence.’ Staff must be aware of this Code of Practice and how to ensure that they 
can meet the requirements around the location and supervision of machines.

2.4 Licensed premises will also need to refer to the Gambling Commission Code of 
Practice for ‘Equal chance gaming in clubs and premises with an alcohol licence.’ 
Where they provide bingo, poker, bridge, whist or other equal chance gaming.

2.3 Permit for three or more machines
If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then it needs to apply for a 
permit and the Licensing Authority must consider that application based upon the 
licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under 

Page 72

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/codes-of-practice/guide/page/section-c-gaming-machines-in-clubs-and-premises-with-an-alcohol-licence
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/codes-of-practice/guide/page/section-c-gaming-machines-in-clubs-and-premises-with-an-alcohol-licence
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/codes-of-practice/guide/page/section-b-equal-chance-gaming-in-clubs-and-premises-with-an-alcohol-licence


41

Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “other such matters as the Authority think 
relevant.”   

2.4 This Licensing Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by 
case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling. These applications will 
ordinarily be dealt with by officers, however in certain cases (such as applications for 
large numbers of machines or where there are other concerns), applications may be 
referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee for determination.

2.5 Applicants should satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure 
that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines.  
Measures which will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may include the 
adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff that will monitor that 
the machines are not being used by those under 18.  Notices and signage may also 
be helpful.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, applicants may wish to 
consider the provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare.

2.6 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence 
for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to 
be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence.

2.7 It should be noted that the Licensing Authority can decide to grant the application 
with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that 
applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached.

2.8 A plan must accompany applications, indicating where and what type, of gambling 
machines are to be provided. This plan may take the form of an amendment to the 
plan attached to the Premises Licence issued under Licensing Act 2003. 

2.9 The Licensing Authority expects permit holders to be mindful of their obligations in 
relation to supervision arrangements for gaming machines to protect the young and 
the vulnerable and to comply with the Gambling Commission’s Gaming Machines in 
Clubs and Premises with an Alcohol Licence Code of Practice. These form a 
condition of every permit and cover aspects such as the location and operation of 
machines; access to gambling by children and young persons; and self-exclusion. 
See the Gambling Commission website for more information: .

Applicants should be aware that only those premises which have a ‘bar’ (servery) at which 
alcohol is sold for consumption on the premises will be eligible for a machine in the bar 
area of the premises. This means that premises such as restaurants which do not have a 
bar for serving drinks or can only sell alcoholic drinks as an ancillary to food will not 
automatically qualify for two machines. 

3 Prize Gaming Permits – (Statement of Principles on Permits -   
Schedule 14 Para 8 (3))

3.1 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing Authority may “prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Schedule” 
which “may, in particular, specify matters that the Licensing Authority propose to 
consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.  

Page 73

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/codes-of-practice/guide/page/section-c-gaming-machines-in-clubs-and-premises-with-an-alcohol-licence
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/codes-of-practice/guide/page/section-c-gaming-machines-in-clubs-and-premises-with-an-alcohol-licence


42

3.2 Statement of Principles – Prize Gaming Permit

3.2.1 This Licensing Authority has adopted a Statement of Principles in accordance with 
paragraph 8 of Schedule 14 of the Act and they are for the purposes of clarifying the 
measures that the Licensing Authority will expect applicants to demonstrate when 
applying for a prize gaming permit.  This will allow the council to better determine the 
suitability of the applicant and the premises for a permit.

3.2.2 Within this process the Licensing Authority will aim to grant the permit where the 
applicant is able to demonstrate that:
 they are a fit and proper person to hold the permit
 they have considered and are proposing suitable measures to promote the 

licensing objectives; and
 they have a legal right to occupy the premises to which the permit is sought.

3.2.3 This Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to set out the types of gaming that he 
or she is intending to offer and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate: 
 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations; 
 and that the gaming offered is within the law.
 clear policies that outline steps to be taken to protect children from harm.

3.2.4 In making its decision on an application for a prize gaming permit the Licensing 
Authority does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must 
have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.  (Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 
14 paragraph 8(3)).

3.2.4 The measures suggested in this document should be read as guidance only and the 
Licensing Authority will be happy for applicants to suggest measures above and 
beyond those listed in the document and or to substitute measures as appropriate.

3.3 Prize gaming permits

3.3.1 Section 288 defines gaming as prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize is not 
determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the 
gaming.  The operator will determine the prizes before play commences.  Prize gaming 
can often be seen at seaside resorts in amusement arcades where a form of bingo is 
offered and the prizes are displayed.

3.3.2  A prize gaming permit is a permit issued by the Licensing Authority to authorise the 
provision of facilities for gaming with prizes on specified premises. 

3.3.3 Applicants should be aware of the conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which prize 
gaming permit holders must comply.  The conditions in the Act are:
 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with;
 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on which 

the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played and 
completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game must 
be made public in the premises on the day that it is played; 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); and

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling. 

3.3.4 In line with the Act, while the Licensing Authority cannot attach conditions to this type 
of permit, the Licensing Authority can refuse applications if they are not satisfied that 

Page 74



43

the issues raised in this “Statement of Principles” have been addressed through the 
application.

3.4 Supporting documents

3.4.1 The Licensing Authority will require the following supporting documents to be served 
with all prize gaming permit applications:

 proof of age (a certified copy or sight of an original birth certificate, photo style 
driving licence, or passport – all applicants for these permits must be aged 18 or 
over)

 proof that the applicant has the right to occupy the premises.  Acceptable 
evidence would be a copy of any lease, a copy of the property’s deeds or a similar 
document

 the result of a criminal records basic disclosure [criminal conviction certificate] 
(the disclosure must have been issued within the previous month).  This will be 
used to check that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set 
out in Schedule 7 of the Act.) – Basic Disclosures can be obtained from the 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). Further information is available on their 
website: www.gov.uk/government/publications/basic-checks. 

 A plan of the premises for which the permit is sought showing the following items: 
(i) the boundary of the building with any external or internal walls, entrances 

and exits to the building and any internal doorways 
(iii) The location where any prize gaming will take place (including any seating 

and tables) and the area where any prizes will be displayed
(iv) the positioning and types of any other amusement machines on the 

premises
(v) the location of any fixed or semi-fixed counters, booths or offices on the 

premises whereby staff monitor the customer floor area
(vi) the location of any ATM/cash machines or change machines
(vii) the location of any fixed or temporary structures such as columns or pillars
(viii) the location and height of any stages in the premises; any steps, stairs, 

elevators, balconies or lifts in the premises
(ix) the location of any public toilets in the building 

Unless otherwise agreed with the Licensing Authority, the plan should be drawn to a 
standard scale with a key showing the items mentioned above.  The standard scale is 
1:100.

3.5 Child protection issues

3.5.1 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 
procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited 
to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations including 
safeguarding and child sexual exploitation.  Further information on these types of 
issues and the Licensing Authority’s expectations is at Appendix C.  The Licensing 
Authority will assess these policies and procedures on their merits, and they should 
(depending on the particular permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / 
training for staff relating to the following:
 maintain contact details for any local schools and or the education authority so 

that any truant children can be reported
 employ policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may 

attempt to gain access to the premises and gamble when they should be at 
school

Page 75

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/basic-checks


44

 employ policies to address any problems that may arise during seasonal periods 
where children may frequent the premises in greater numbers, such as half terms 
and summer holidays

 maintain information at the premises of the term times of any local schools in the 
vicinity of the premises and also consider policies to ensure sufficient staffing 
levels during these times

 display posters displaying the ‘Child Line’ (or equivalent) phone number in 
discreet locations on the premises e.g. toilets

 maintain an incident register of any problems that arise on the premises related 
to children such as children gambling excessively, truant children, children being 
unruly or young unaccompanied children entering the premises.  (The register 
should be used to detect any trends which require attention by the management 
of the premises.)

 ensure all young children are accompanied by a responsible adult.
 maintain policies to deal with any young children who enter the premises 

unaccompanied
 the provision of satisfactory basic disclosure checks (criminal records checks) for 

all staff who will be working closely with children.
 training relating to child safeguarding issues.
 designate at least one member of staff/management to take a lead on issues 

relating to safeguarding children and vulnerable people as a ‘safeguarding co-
ordinator’.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

3.5.2 Staff should be clearly identifiable so that customers, including children, can easily 
identify them for assistance, guidance or gambling advice.

3.6 Protection of Vulnerable Persons Issues

3.6.1 The Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 
procedures in place to protect vulnerable persons.  Applicants should refer to the 
section in the council’s ‘Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005’ 
to familiarise themselves with who the council considers vulnerable.  The Licensing 
Authority will assess these policies and procedures on their merits, however, they may 
(depending on the particular permit being applied for) include appropriate measures / 
training for staff relating to the following:
 display Gamcare helpline stickers on all gaming machines
 display Gamcare posters in prominent locations on the premises
 training for staff members which focuses on building an employee’s ability to 

maintain a sense of awareness of how much (e.g. how long) customers are 
gambling, as part of measures to detect persons who may be vulnerable

 consider appropriate positioning of ATM and change machines.  (including the 
display of Gamcare stickers on any such machines.)

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

3.7 Other miscellaneous issues

3.7.1 The applicant should also be mindful of the following possible control measures 
(depending on the particular permit being applied for) to minimise crime and disorder 
and the possibility of public nuisance:

Page 76



45

 maintain an effective CCTV system to monitor the interior and exterior of the 
premises

 keep the exterior of the premises clean and tidy
 ensure that external lighting is suitably positioned and operated so as not to 

cause nuisance to neighbouring or adjoining premises
 consider the design and layout of the outside of the premises to deter the 

congregation of children and youths.

NB: Any supporting evidence of the above measures e.g. training manuals or other 
similar documents/written statements should be attached to the application.

4 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

4.1 Members’ Clubs (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or 
a Club Gaming machines permit.  The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises 
to provide gaming machines (three machines of categories B3A, B4, C or D, but only 
one B3A machine), equal chance gaming and games of chance as set-out in 
forthcoming regulations.  A Club Gaming machine permit will enable the premises to 
provide gaming machines (three machines of categories B3A, B4, C or D).

4.2 Gambling Commission Guidance states: "A members’ club is a club that is not 
established as a commercial enterprise, and is conducted for the benefit of its 
members. Examples include working men’s clubs, miners’ welfare institutes, braches 
of the Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations…The Act states that 
members’ clubs must have at least twenty-five members and be established and 
conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is 
restricted to bridge and whist. Members’ clubs must be permanent in nature, but there 
is no need for a club to have an alcohol licence.”

 
4.3 The Commission Guidance also notes that "licensing authorities may only refuse an 

application on the grounds that:
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club or 
miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for 
which it has applied;
(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 

persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities;
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.

4.4 There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold 
a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 paragraph 10).  
As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities states: "Under the fast-
track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission 
or the police, and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced.” 
The grounds on which an application under the process may be refused are:
(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed 
under schedule 12;
(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming; or
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last 
ten years has been cancelled."

Page 77



46

4.5 There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B 
or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision 
of a code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.

4.6 Where a club does not hold a Club Premises Certificate issued under Licensing Act 
2003 and is therefore not eligible for the ‘fast-track’ procedure, the Licensing Authority 
will need to satisfy itself that the club meets the requirements of the Gambling Act 2005 
to hold a club gaming permit or a club machine permit. In order to do this, the Licensing 
Authority may ask for additional information from the operator, for example:

 Is there a list of committee members and evidence of their election by club 
members?

 Are there minutes of previous meetings (where appropriate)?
 Is the primary activity of the club something other than gaming?
 Are the club’s profits retained solely for the benefit of the club’s members?
 Are there 25 or more members?
 Are the addresses of members of the club genuine domestic addresses and do 

most members live reasonably locally to the club?
 Do members participate in the activities of the club via the internet?
 Do guest arrangements link each guest to a member?
 Is the 48 hour rule being applied for membership and being granted admission 

being adhered to?
 Are there annual club accounts available for more than one year?
 How is the club advertised and listed in directories and on the internet?
 Are children permitted in the club?
 Does the club have a constitution and can it provide evidence that the 

constitution was approved by members of the club?
 Is there a list of Committee members and evidence of their election by the club 

members? 

4.7 When examining the club’s constitution (where available), the Licensing Authority 
would expect to see evidence of the following:

 Who makes commercial decisions on behalf of the club?
 Are the aims of the club set out in the constitution?
 Are there shareholders or members?  Shareholders indicate a business venture 

rather than a non-profit making club.
 Is the club permanently established?  (Clubs cannot be temporary).
 Are there suitable rules as to the election and admission to the club of new 

members?
 What is the usual duration of membership?
 Can people join with a temporary membership?  What is the usual duration of 

membership?
 Are there long term club membership benefits?
 Is there a provision for annual general meetings?
 Is there a provision for the election of officers?

4.8 Aside from bridge and whist clubs, clubs may not be established wholly or mainly for 
the purposes of gaming. The Licensing Authority will consider such factors as:

 How many nights a week is gaming provided?
 How is the gaming advertised?
 What stakes and prizes are on offer?

Page 78



47

 Is there evidence of leagues with weekly, monthly or annual winners?
 Is there evidence of members who do not participate in gaming?
 Are there teaching sessions to promote gaming such as poker?
 Is there a tie-in with other clubs offering gaming through tournaments and 

leagues?
 Is there sponsorship from gaming organisations?
 Are participation fees within the prescribed limits?

5 Temporary Use Notices

5.1 Temporary use notices (TUNs) allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a 
temporary use notice, according to the Gambling Commission, would include hotels, 
conference centres and sporting venues.

5.2 This Licensing Authority can only grant a temporary use notice to a person or company 
holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence. Other 
restrictions are:

 It can only be used to offer gambling of a form authorised by the operator’s 
operating licence.

 Gambling under a TUN may only be made available on a maximum of 21 days 
in any 12 month period for any or all of a named set of premises.

 A TUN can only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance 
gaming and where the gaming in each tournament is intended to produce a 
single overall winner.

 Gaming machines may not be made available under a TUN.

5.3 The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be 
authorised by temporary use notices, and at the time of writing this Statement the 
relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Act (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) 
state that temporary use notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities 
or equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, 
which in practice means poker tournaments.

5.4 There are a number of statutory limits as regards temporary use notices.  The meaning 
of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Guidance.  As with 
"premises", the definition of "a set of premises" will be a question of fact in the particular 
circumstances of each notice that is given.  In the Act "premises" is defined as including 
"any place". 

5.5 In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", this 
Licensing Authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation 
and control of the premises.

5.6 This Licensing Authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect 
would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of 
premises, as recommended in the Guidance. 

6 Occasional Use Notices

6.1  Occasional Use Notices enable betting on a track for up to eight days a year without 
a premises licence.

Page 79



48

6.2 The Licensing Authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from 
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  This 
Licensing Authority will though consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether the 
applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.  

6.3 Further information on Occastional Use Notices can be found on the Gambling 
Commission’s website. .

7 Licensed Vessels

7.1 The Licensing Authority when considering applications for premises licences in 
respect of vessels will give particular weight to the views of the Maritime and 
Coastguard Agency in respect of promoting the licensing objectives. Where in the 
opinion of the Licensing Authority any of the three objectives are undermined, and 
this cannot be resolved through the imposition of conditions, the application will be 
refused.

7.3 Licences may only be granted to vessels normally berthed in the South Hams.

Where a premises licence is sought in connection with a vessel which will be navigated 
while licensable activities take place, the Licensing Authority will be concerned following 
the receipt of relevant representations, with the promotion of the licensing objectives on-
board the vessel. The Licensing Authority will not focus on matters relating to safe 
navigation or operation of the vessel, the general safety of passengers or emergency 
provisions, all of which are subject to regulations which must be met before the vessel is 
issued with a Passenger Certificate and Safety Management Certificate. It is expected that 
if the relevant maritime agencies are satisfied that the vessel complies with Merchant 
Shipping standards for a passenger ship, the premises will normally be accepted as 
meeting the public safety objectives.

8 Lotteries

8.1 Under the Gambling Act 2005, a lottery is unlawful unless it runs under an operating 
licence or is an exempt lottery. Promoting or facilitating a lottery will fall into two 
categories.

 Licensing lotteries (requiring an operating licence from the Gambling 
Commission).

 Exempt lotteries (including small society lotteries registered with South Hams 
District Council)

8.2 Exempt lotteries are lotteries permitted to run without a licence from the Gambling 
Commission and are defined as:

 Small society lotteries
 Incidental non-commercial lotteries
 Private society lotteries
 Work lotteries
 Residents’ lotteries
 Customers’ lotteries

8.3 Small Society Lotteries

Page 80

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/authorities/guide/occasional-use-notices-ouns


49

8.3.1 South Hams District Council will register and administer small society lotteries as 
defined under the Act. Advice regarding small society lotteries and the definitions of 
the above exempt lotteries is available from both the Gambling Commission website 
and the South Hams District Council website.

8.3.2 Small society lotteries can only be operated by non-commercial societies, as defined 
in Section 19 of the Act. This states that a society is non-commercial if it is 
established and conducted:

 For charitable purposes, as defined in s.2 of the Charities Act 2006.
 For the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or 

cultural activity.
 For any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain.

8.3.3 The society must have been established for one of the above permitted purposes 
and the proceeds of any lottery must be devoted to those purposes. It is not 
permissible to establish a society whose sole purpose is to facilitate lotteries.  

8.3.4 This Licensing Authority will adopt a risk based approach towards its enforcement 
responsibilities for small society lotteries. The Authority considers that the following 
list, although not exclusive, could affect the risk status of the operator:

 Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three 
months after the date on which the lottery draw was held);

 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns;
 Breaches of the limits for small society lotteries.

8.4 Further information on fundraising and lotteries can be found on the Gambling 
Commission website:. 

Disclaimer: This Licensing Authority wishes to make clear that the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Local Authorities was the most recent information 
available at the time of writing and can be the subject of change within the period that 
this statement of principles is in force.  We would also draw your attention to the 
following:

 Legislation may change over time and the advice given is based on the 
information available at the time the guidance was produced – it is not 
exhaustive and is subject to revision in the light of the further information

 Only the courts can interpret statutory legislation with any authority; and
 This advice is not intended to be definitive guidance nor a substitute for the 

relevant law and independent legal advice should be sought where appropriate

Page 81

https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/public-and-players/fundraising-and-lotteries


50

Appendix A – Responsible Authorities
Responsible Authority Contacts – 

The list of Responsible Authorities and their respective contact details may change 
where additional responsible authorities are designated by regulations from the 
Secretary of State or where existing contacts change their details. 

A contact list of Responsible Authorities can be obtained by accessing South Hams 
District Council’s licensing web pages www.southhams.gov.uk by emailing 
licensing@swdevon.gov.uk or by telephoning 01803 861234   

1) The Licensing Authority 
The Licensing Department
South Hams District Council
Follaton House
Plymouth Road
Totnes
TQ9 5NE

Tel:  01803 861234
E-mail: licensing@swdevon.gov.uk 

2) The Gambling Commission 
Victoria Square House       
Victoria Square
Birmingham
B2 4BP

Tel:    0121 230 6666
Email: licensing@gamblingcommission.gov.uk  

3) Her Majesty’s Commissioners of Customs and Excise
HM Revenue and Customs
Excise Processing Teams
BX9 1GL
United Kingdom

Tel: 0300 322 7072 Option 7
Email: nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk  

4) Child Protection
Devon Children and Families Partnership
Devon County Council County Hall 
Topsham Road 
Exeter 
EX2 4QD

Tel:01392 386067
Email: cpchecks@devon.gcsx.gov.uk 

5) Devon & Cornwall Constabulary
Licensing Department 
Devon & Cornwall Police 

Page 82

http://www.southhams.gov.uk/
mailto:licensing@swdevon.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@swdevon.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@gamblingcommission.gov.uk
mailto:nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:cpchecks@devon.gcsx.gov.uk


51

Launceston Police Station 
Moorland Road 
Launceston
Cornwall
PL15 7HY

Tel:   01566 771309
Email: licensing.team@devonandcornwall.pnn.police.uk 

6)(a) Devon and Somerset Fire & Rescue Service
(For Kingsbridge, Salcombe, Ivybridge and areas West of);
The Fire Safety Officer
Devon and Somerset Fire & Rescue
Glen Road
Plympton
Plymouth 
PL7 2XT

Tel: 01752 333600
Email: plymouthfs@dsfire.gov.uk 

6)(b) Devon and Somerset Fire & Rescue Service
(For Dartmouth, Totnes and areas East of);
The Fire Safety Officer
Devon and Somerset Fire & Rescue
Newton Road
Torquay
TQ2 7AD

Tel: 01803 653700
Email: torquayfs@dsfire.gov.uk

7) Environmental Health Department ( Pollution Control)
Environmental Health Department
South Hams District Council
Follaton House
Plymouth Road
Totnes
TQ9 5NE

Tel: 01803 861234
E-mail: environmental.health@swdevon.gov.uk 

8) a) Planning
Development Management
South Hams District Council
Follaton House
Plymouth Road
Totnes
TQ9 5NE

Tel: 01803 861234
E-mail: dm@swdevon.gov.uk 

Page 83

mailto:licensing.team@devonandcornwall.pnn.police.uk
mailto:plymouthfs@dsfire.gov.uk
mailto:torquayfs@dsfire.gov.uk
mailto:environmental.health@swdevon.gov.uk
mailto:dm@swdevon.gov.uk


52

8) b) Dartmoor National Park Authority
Dartmoor National Park Authority
Parke
Bovey Tracey
Newton Abbot
Devon
TQ13 9JQ

Tel: 01626 832093
Email: planning@dartmoor.gov.uk 

9) Maritime & Coastguard Agency (Boats only)
Maritime & Coastguard Agency
Plymouth Marine and Fishing Survey Office
 Unit 35, 235 Union Street 
Stonehouse 
Plymouth 
Devon 
PL1 3HQ

Tel: 01752 266211
Email: plymouthmo@mcga.gov.uk 

Page 84

mailto:planning@dartmoor.gov.uk
mailto:plymouthmo@mcga.gov.uk


53

Appendix B - Summary of licensing authority delegations 
permitted under the Gambling Act

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-Committee of 
Licensing Committee

Officers

Final approval of the 
Licensing Authority 
Policy statement

X

Policy not to permit 
casinos

X

Fee setting (when 
appropriate)

X 
(after recommendation 

from Licensing 
Committee and 

Executive)
Application for premises 
licences

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 
received/or have 
not been 
withdrawn

Application for a variation 
to a licence

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 
received/or have 
not been 
withdrawn

Application for a transfer 
of a licence

Where representations 
have been received 
from the Gambling 
Commission

Where no 
representations 
received from the 
Gambling 
Commission

Application for a 
provisional statement

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn

Where no 
representations 
received/or have 
not been 
withdrawn

Review of a premises 
licence

X

Application for club 
gaming/club machine 
permit

Where objections have 
been made (and not 
withdrawn)

Where no 
objections 
made/objections 
have been 
withdrawn

Cancellation of club 
gaming/club machine 
permits

X

Applications for other 
permits

X

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming 
machine permits

Where permit holder 
requests a hearing

Where permit 
holder does not 
choose to have 
representations 
considered

Consideration of 
temporary use notice

Where representations 
are received

Where no 
representations 
are received

Decision to give a 
counter notice to a 
temporary use notice

X

Page 85



54

Appendix C - Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable 
Persons

South Hams District Council is committed to protecting children from harm through the 
sharing of intelligence and by working together with other key agencies. Safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable persons is everyone’s business and responsibility and it is therefore 
vital that all areas of society share relevant information with the Police and the local 
Safeguarding Boards. 

Child Sexual Exploitation

Gambling is an activity mainly carried out by adults, but that does not stop young people 
frequenting certain premises and partaking in particular activities i.e. amusement arcades 
etc. Children are allowed to attend certain gambling premises without any adult supervision 
so the risk to those children may be escalated by the adults who attend those premises and 
find a vulnerability which they choose to prey on. Nationally, evidence has been found of the 
sexual exploitation of children taking place on licensed premises, or licensed premises being 
used for the purposes of grooming and enticement.

Gambling establishment licence and permit holders and their employees are in a good 
position to help identify victims of sexual exploitation because, through the operation of 
certain gambling activities, licence and permit holders and their employees regularly come 
into contact with children, young and vulnerable people.

Child sexual exploitation (CSE) is a crime that can affect any child, anytime, anywhere – 
regardless of their social or ethnic background. CSE involves exploitative situations, contexts 
and relationships where young people (or a third person or persons) receive something, e.g. 
food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, cigarettes, affection, gifts, money, etc. as a result of 
them performing, and/or another or others performing on them, sexual activities. Violence, 
coercion and intimidation are commonly involved in such exploitative relationships. 

CSE involves perpetrators grooming youngsters and using their powers to sexually abuse 
them. Sexual exploitation of children and young people can take many forms, whether it 
occurs through a seemingly ‘consensual’ relationship with an older boyfriend, or a young 
person having sex in return for attention, gifts, alcohol or cigarettes.

Set out below is a list of considerations for gambling premises licence and permit holders 
and their employees to remember when they see young and vulnerable people in their 
gambling premises:

 Do any of your customers appear to be under 18 years old?
 Are they with a much older person and appear to be in a relationship?
 Do you think that they are under the influence of alcohol or drugs?
 Are children/young people being brought regularly to your premises by older 

people? If so, ask yourself why?

Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults

If an adult with care and support needs is experiencing or is at risk of abuse or neglect and 
as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either the 
risk of, or the experience of abuse or neglect, you may need to take urgent action to protect 
the adult. Your first priority is with the adult, to make them safe (including reporting to the 
police if immediate action is required). Ideally, support the adult to take action to stop the 
abuse. If they need to raise a concern with the Local Authority to help them stop the abuse 

Page 86



55

support that person to contact the Devon Safeguarding Adults Partnership: 
https://www.devonsafeguardingadultspartnership.org.uk/reporting-a-concern/

Safeguarding Co-ordinator

At premises that are licensed for gambling, it is good practice to assign at least one member 
of staff or management to take a lead on issues relating to safeguarding children and 
vulnerable people (a ‘Safeguarding Co-ordinator’). This role must be delegated to a suitable 
member of staff when the lead person is on holiday, or otherwise absent from the premises. 
This safeguarding measure should be included in the operating policy, to evidence a 
commitment to the core objectives of the legislation, (it is not necessary however to include 
the name of the Safeguarding Co-ordinator in the operating policy). 

The designation of a safeguarding co-ordinator shows due diligence and can be an 
advantage at premises where there is a high turnover of staff, to ensure consistent 
standards operate and provide an induction to new staff. The assignment of a Safeguarding 
Co-ordinator may benefit the business during busy times, ensuring that the premises 
management is able to prioritise its safeguarding responsibilities and therefore meet the 
Core Objective to protect children and vulnerable people from harm, under the Gambling Act 
2005. 

The Safeguarding Co-ordinator must be fit and proper to work in proximity to children and 
vulnerable people. Staff assigned to the role of Safeguarding Co-ordinator must be 
adequately checked (for example via the Disclosure and Barring Service) if they are to have 
1:1 contact with children or a responsibility to supervise children and safe recruitment 
procedures should be followed.
 The following points give an example of the type of duties that the Safeguarding Co-
ordinator should undertake at gambling premises (this list is not exhaustive). 

 Ensure that policy is enforced in relation to children and vulnerable people. 
 Monitor the effectiveness of existing safeguarding measures and review policy when 

necessary. 
 Have a basic awareness of safeguarding issues relating to children and vulnerable 

adults, including the types of harm and potential risks at the premises. 
 To train other staff to be aware of potential risks to children and vulnerable people 

and be able to advise staff what to do if safeguarding issues arise. 

Reporting concerns

If you are concerned about a child or young person in Devon and want to speak to someone 
contact the Devon Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) on 0345 155 1071 or email  
mashsecure@devon.gov.uk and give as much information as you can.
If a child is at immediate risk from harm contact Devon and Cornwall Police on 999.

If you see, hear or suspect that an adult may be at risk of abuse or neglect, you must tell 
someone about it. If they are in immediate danger contact the police on 999. Otherwise 
contact Care Direct on 0345 155 1007 or email csc.caredirect@devon.gov.uk.  .

Further information and links to relevant agencies can be found on our website: 
https://southhams.gov.uk/article/3396/Safeguarding-children-and-vulnerable-adults

Page 87

mailto:mashsecure@devon.gov.uk
mailto:csc.caredirect@devon.gov.uk
https://southhams.gov.uk/article/3396/Safeguarding-children-and-vulnerable-adults


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

List of Organisations/Persons consulted

Responsible Authorities:

 The Gambling Commission
 HM Revenue and Customs
 Devon Children and Families Partnership 
 Chief Officer of Police, Devon and Cornwall Constabulary
 Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service
 South Hams District Council’s Environmental Health Department
 South Hams District Council’s Planning Department
 Dartmoor National Park Planning Authority
 Maritime and Coastguard Agency

Licence Holders/Representatives of Licence Holders, Interested 
Parties/Representatives of Interested Parties:

 British Amusement Catering Trade Association (BACTA)
 Citizens Advice
 Dartmouth Business News
 Devon Chamber of Trade
 Devon Children and Families Partnership
 Devon County Council Social Care
 Devon Health and Wellbeing Board
 District Councillors
 Gamble Aware
 Gamblers Anonymous
 GamCare
 Local residents/businesses and their representatives via the Council 

website and through Council social media.
 Ivybridge Chamber of Commerce
 Kingsbridge, Salcombe and Modbury Chamber of Commerce
 Mencap
 MIND
 NSPCC
 Police and Crime Commissioner for Devon and Cornwall
 Representatives of existing licence-holders
 South Devon & Dartmoor Community Safety Partnership
 Totnes and District Chamber of Commerce 
 Town and Parish Councillors

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

Summary of main changes from Gambling Statement of Principles 
2019-2022, including proposed changes following public 
consultation

Part A Brief Description

1.2 Reference to specific section of the Gambling Commission 
Guidance to Local Authorities (GLA) added and wording slightly 
amended.

3.2 – 3.5 Local statistics updated.

3.6 Council’s Core Purposes and Corporate Strategy Themes added. 

4.3 (following 
consultation)

List of organisations consulted updated.

11.5 – 11.6 Hyperlinks to Gambling Commission’s test purchasing guidance 
and inspection templates included.

11.7 New paragraph regarding the authority’s approach to primary 
authority agreements.

Info box below 
12.1

Sentence added to clarify that the Licensing Authority do not 
regulate The National Lottery or Online (Remote) Gambling.

14.1 Hyperlink to Gambling Commission’s website amended.

14.2 Added requirement that an updated local risk assessment will be 
required where privacy screens or pods have been included.

15.7 (following 
consultation)

Last sentence updated with further details regarding Gamble 
Aware as per their response to the consultation.

Part B

1.4.2 Reference to specific section of the GLA added and additional 
sentence relating to premises located within a wider venue, as per 
guidance.

1.4.3 Reference to specific section of the GLA added.

1.4.4 – 1.4.7 New sections relating to access and separation of premises, 
including diagrams.

1.4.8 Additional bullet point referring to risk assessments.

1.5.1 Reference to specific section of the GLA added.

1.7.1 – 1.7.2 Wording related to duplication with planning and building control 
amended as per updated GLA.

1.8.4 – 1.8.8 Additional information about our expectations in relation to children 
and vulnerable persons.

Page 91



1.11.1 – 1.11.2 Removal of reference to previous version of Licence Conditions 
and Codes of Practice (LCCP)

1.13.1 Addition of reference to LCCP Ordinary Code 10.1.2 and 
requirement of licensees to share risk assessments with the 
Licensing Authority.

1.14.1 – 1.14.4 New section on our requirements for premises licence plans.

3.7 New paragraph encouraging premises to sign up to the British 
Amusement Catering Trade and Association (BACTA) Voluntary 
Code in relation to under 18s playing category D gaming machines 
at Family Entertainment Centres.

5.3 Reference to LCCP 9.1.2 in relation to the appearance of premises 
used to provide bingo facilities added.

7.4.4 Addition of recommendation that applicants consult the Gambling 
Commissions guidance on siting of gaming machines at tracks.

7.6.7 Hyperlink to GLA amended.

9.7 New paragraph confirming that a building should be complete 
before a gambling premises licence application is submitted.

Part C

1.9.1 Removal of bullet point that basic disclosure not required where an 
applicant holds an Operating Licence with the Gambling 
Commission.

1.10.5 New paragraph encouraging premises to sign up to the British 
Amusement Catering Trade and Association (BACTA) Voluntary 
Code in relation to under 18s playing category D gaming machines 
at Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres.

1.11.1 Additional bullet point to include self-exclusion systems to protect 
vulnerable persons.

2.3 – 2.4 New paragraphs about our expectation for alcohol licensed 
premises with gaming machines to be aware of the relevant 
Gambling Commission Codes of Practice.

2.9 Hyperlink to Gambling Commission’s relevant code of practice 
added.

4.1 Gaming machine categories updated.

6.3 Hyperlink to Gambling Commission’s information on Occasional 
Use Notices added.

8.4 Hyperlink to Gambling Commission’s information on fundraising 
and lotteries added.

Appendix C Email addresses and hyperlinks updated.

Page 92



Appendix D

South Hams District Council

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES (Gambling Act 2005) CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

NAME OR 
ORGANISATION

COMMENTS APPRAISAL SUGGESTED AMENDMENTS

GambleAware

GambleAware is an 
independent charity 
tasked to fund 
research, education 
and treatment 
services to help to 
reduce gambling-
related harms in Great 
Britain. 

Thank you for consulting us on your draft 
Statement of Principles under the Gambling Act 
2005.  
 
Due to resource constraints on a small charity, 
we are not able to offer specific feedback on 
your policy. However, you may find 
GambleAware’s recently published interactive 
maps useful, which have been designed for use 
by local authorities. The maps show the 
prevalence of problem gambling severity in each 
local authority and ward area as well as usage 
of, and reported demand for, treatment and 
support for gambling harms.  
 
GambleAware also strongly commends two 
publications by the Local Government 
Association which set out the range of options 
available to local authorities to deal with 
gambling-related harms using existing powers: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/tackling-gambling-
related-harm-whole-council-approach    
https://www.local.gov.uk/gambling-regulation-
councillor-handbook-england-and-wales   
 

The maps referred to are described on their 
website as: ‘These maps represent a starting 
point in understanding some of the 
differences at ward and local authority level. 
It is anticipated that they will be useful to 
national and local public health teams and 
healthcare commissioners in building their 
understanding of gambling in their local 
authority area.’ The maps are interesting and 
will aid Public Health when analysing health 
concerns in the local area, which may then 
influence future gambling policies.

Both publications referred to by 
GambleAware were taken into consideration 
during the review of the policy in 2018 and 
the relevant information is still included in this 
updated version.

No amendments required.

No amendments required.

P
age 93

https://www.local.gov.uk/tackling-gambling-related-harm-whole-council-approach
https://www.local.gov.uk/tackling-gambling-related-harm-whole-council-approach
https://www.local.gov.uk/gambling-regulation-councillor-handbook-england-and-wales
https://www.local.gov.uk/gambling-regulation-councillor-handbook-england-and-wales


2

GambleAware is also fully supportive of local 
authorities which conduct an analysis to identify 
areas with increased levels of risk for any 
reason. In particular we support those who also 
include additional licence requirements to 
mitigate the increased level of risk. Areas where 
there are higher than average resident or visiting 
populations from groups we know to be 
vulnerable to gambling harms include children, 
the unemployed, the homeless, certain ethnic-
minorities, lower socio-economic groups, those 
attending mental health (including gambling 
disorders) or substance addiction treatment 
services.   
 
Finally, GambleAware is a leading commissioner 
of prevention and treatment services for 
gambling harms. It provides these functions 
across England, Scotland and Wales and its 
work is underpinned by high quality research, 
data and evaluation. We encourage all local 
authorities to signpost people to the National 
Gambling Helpline on 0808 8020 133 and also 
www.begambleaware.org . Both are part of the 
National Gambling Treatment Service and offer 
free, confidential advice and support for those 
who may need it.  
 

There is no requirement for South Hams 
District Council to produce a local area profile 
and we have decided at this time we are not 
in a position to do so. Its creation is 
dependent on information and knowledge of 
the local area gathered by partner agencies 
and other relevant organisations who have 
the expertise and knowledge of the impact of 
gambling in the locality, in particular Public 
Health. In the three previous years no 
information or data has been submitted, 
despite being openly requested in the 
previous policy. The Council is considering 
putting such a profile together in the future, 
depending on the resources available. 

At 15.7 of the policy document it states: “This 
Licensing Authority encourages operators to 
have information and links to appropriate 
accredited agencies for help and support 
available to customers, such as the National 
Problem Gambling Helpline and GamCare.” 
The name of the helpline has been amended 
and it may be helpful to include the number 
as well as the website address.

No amendments required.

Last sentence at 15.7 of the policy to be updated 
as follows: “This Licensing Authority encourages 
operators to have information and links to 
appropriate accredited agencies for help and 
support available to customers, such as the 
National Gambling Helpline (0808 8020 133) and 
GamCare. Further information is also available on 
the Gamble Aware website: 
www.begambleaware.org ”

John Pope, Harford 
Parish Clerk

My comment is that gambling is a pernicious evil 
that causes much destitution and misery, and that 
to the greatest extent permitted by the law the 
council should actively seek to minimise the 
number of gambling establishments.

While the Licensing Authority is able to 
reduce the negative impact of the gambling 
activities it controls through regulation and by 
ensuring premises promote the licensing 
objectives, it does not have the power to limit 

No amendments required.

P
age 94

http://www.begambleaware.org/
http://www.begambleaware.org/


3

the number of gambling establishments 
through this policy.

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes - LSC 7 January 2021
	Minutes - LSC 24 February 2021
	Minutes - LSC 22 April 2021
	Minutes - LSC 29 April 2021
	Minutes - LSC 4 August 2021

	5 Three-Yearly Review of Gambling Statement of Licensing Principles
	Appendix A – Draft Gambling Statement of Licensing Principles
	Appendix B – List of organisations/persons consulted
	Appendix C – Summary of changes
	Appendix D – Summary of consultation responses and suggested amendments


